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Five Year Financial Highlights

(B 75 45 B 35 48 > ¥ Lt J6 %Y v~ Expressed. in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
$°000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000
R - Results of Operations
e A Revenue 211,489 216,181 269,818 360,675 575,690
T F Gross profit 134,468 136,178 139,337 240,771 352,461
ESRiES Gross profit margin 63.6% 63.0% 51.6% 66.8% 61.2%
B 18 Loss from operations (15,389) (6,960) (154,540) (85,414) (72,828)
PSR- TR S Operating margin -7.3% -3.2% -57.3% -23.7% -12.7%
& Wy FE A E Net valuation gains/
s, Uks48) (losses) on investment
bEiE ] properties 6,405 3,178 (35,242) 5,330 3,770
R E Y Net gain on disposal of
Ik %5 7 A investment properties 13,336 - - 3,580 4,378
HMEFE R M2 Netgain on disposal of land
i T2 and buildings held for
T % own use - - - 44,753 -
Hi B B 2 7 W #45 Net gain on disposal of
%A subsidiaries - - - 129,510 220,790
VELE DB BB M2 Reversal of provisions for
PR 7 T 3 potential PRC customs
KA BN $ 4 duties and indemnity
3B ] liabilities and refund of
related distrained deposits - - 126,495 - -
KN FEREZ A Profit/(loss) attributable to
JE A 5 R equity shareholders
(f& 18) of the Company 3,284 (11,740) (87,125) 90,189 151,023
T #E R (k5 18) % Net profit/(loss) margin 1.6% -5.4% -32.3% 25.0% 26.2%
B A (1) Earnings/(loss) per share
—FE A — basic $0.02 ($0.07) ($0.53) $0.54 $0.91
R o 4 B B Interim dividend per share $0.10 - $0.10 $0.20 $0.20
T R % B Final dividend per share $0.05 $0.10 - $0.20 $0.50
5 IR S Special dividend per share - - - - $4.00
PSR Dividend payout 750.0% -142.9% -18.9% 74.1% 516.5%
B %R Financial Position
&2 (BT )~ Cash (used in)/generated from
EEZRE operations (3,828) 28,461 (14,896) (61,708) (51,467)
B4 MARAT454F Cash and bank deposits less
AR AT 5 S bank overdrafts 125,739 133,559 146,011 315,124 234,486
& E R E Net current assets 160,013 139,090 152,797 256,568 177,268
HE E Total assets 608,928 690,662 725,132 919,985 961,854
FEN =K Total liabilities 101,258 131,734 167,298 215,417 213,205
JB SROHE 2 Shareholders’ equity 498,998 538,886 538,095 682,314 721,752
HE E ] R R Return on total assets 0.5% -1.7% -12.0% 9.8% 15.7%
B RE 45 R Return on shareholders’ equity 0.7% -2.2% -16.2% 13.2% 20.9%
I E Current ratio (times) 3.3 2.4 2.3 2.2 1.8
A i R Gearing ratio 0.126 0.153 0.210 0.010 0.015
T Y i A i Ay Number of shares
A (T K’ outstanding(’000) 165,864 165,864 165,864 165,864 165,864
i Market capitalisation 298,555 427,929 497,592 1,169,341 978,598
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Chairman’s Statement
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Group Results

| am pleased to announce a small profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company of HK$3,284,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022 despite a
loss of HK$14,720,000 for the six months period ended 30 September
2021. Major attribute was a net gain on disposal of certain investment
properties in Hong Kong totaling HK$13,336,000. Similar to the previous
year, the Group’s business is still negatively affected by those lingering
preventive and control measures related to COVID-19 pandemic.

Ashworth

Ashworth is an iconic golf label with worldwide following. We are optimistic
that sports-related consumer goods can benefit from the current trends in
Mainland China. After acquisition of the global rights, we had made
investments in expanding in Mainland China but the expansion is at a slower
pace because of the COVID-19 lockdown in Mainland China. We are pleased
to note that those shops not affected by the lockdown show very healthy
gains on turnover. Shop rentals in Hong Kong are also more reasonable
when our leases are renewed.

Guy Laroche

During the year, Europe was still affected by COVID-19. Despite a drop in
turnover, our management has reduced various overheads and currently
reported a profit for the year.

J.Lindeberg

The Company continues to market J.Lindeberg in Hong Kong and Macau.
However, the turnover is also reduced with the effects of the preventive and
control measures related to COVID-19.

Printing
Hong Kong Security Printing remains profitable during the difficult trading
period.

Property

During the year, the Group sold certain industrial premises held for rental
with a net gain of HK$13,336,000. The Group owned an office premise in
London held for rental which has undergone a refurbishment that cost more
than GBP500,000 affecting our profit for the year. Moreover, the lease of
the lower floor shop has been reviewed with a small increase in rent.

Outlook

As COVID-19 mutates into a more contagious variant, social and travel
restrictions and mandatory quarantine or medical surveillance orders remain
in place, limiting local and tourist traffic. We noticed that shops which were
not affected by those measures showed a very health recovery with a good
increase in sales. During the year, some shop leases are renewed with more
reasonable rates but mostly at shorter terms. However, in such a retail
quandary, we cannot predict with certainty of our profitability.

Appreciation

The past three years have been difficult times for the Group’s business. On
behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to all shareholders for their continued support and to all current and former
employees who have contributed to our growth during this period.

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FTHEEHFE Key Performance Indicators
2022 2021 +/(-)
WL T ot T oo S
HK$’000 HK$’000 change
FB R Performance Indicators
A Revenue 211,489 216,181 -2.2%
E Fl Gross profit 134,468 136,178 -1.3%
B F Gross profit margin 63.6% 63.0% +0.6 pp
8 4R Loss from operations (15,389) (6,960) 121.1%
ST TR S Operating margin -7.3% -3.2% -4.1 pp
A ) RE 25 B R A Profit/(loss) attributable to equity
s Al (s 18) shareholders of the Company 3,284 (11,740 -128.0%
AR (k5 4H) % Net profit/(loss) margin 1.6% -5.4% +7.0 pp
MEBEAE - BIH & X EBITDA
$ &5 w19 22 A1 EBITDA) 36,192 36,010 0.5%
EBITDA 3 EBITDA margin 17.1% 16.7% +0.4 pp
4G P ] R Return on total assets 0.5% -1.7% +2.2 pp
S 5 IR UL 9 B Financial Health Indicators
B 4 B SRAT &5 A7 WU 8 Cash and bank deposits less
SRAT I L bank overdrafts 125,739 133,559 -5.9%
) Net current assets 160,013 139,090 15.0%
A E Total assets 608,928 690,662 -11.8%
M Total liabilities 101,258 131,734 -23.1%
Jie SR HE 4 Shareholders’ equity 498,998 538,886 -7.4%
J R RE 45 0] R 2R Return on shareholders’ equity 0.7% 2.2% +2.9 pp
T () Current ratio (times) 3.3 2.4 37.5%
EAA LR Gearing ratio 0.126 0.153 -17.6%
JBe 5 1 g B Shareholders’ Return Indicators
& F (B ) — 2 A Earnings/(loss) per share — basic $0.02 ($0.07) -128.6%
(5353 95! Dividend per share $0.15 $0.10 +50%
IR B % Dividend payout 750.0% -142.9%  +892.9 pp
Bl &G B e A Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure
REEH A/ EAEZ  Cash (used in)/generated from
Bl operations (3,828) 28,461 -113.4%
BRI —BR(EAREEE  Capital expenditure — other than right-of-
LA use assets 12,140 1,089 1014.8%
KRB XN Results of the Group’s Operations

oy A% 4 [ 2E B R B4R B N4 R 2 F
COVID-19 K Wi AT (M1 K WAT ) W2 28> AR
£ AR A 25 N 5k2.2% F 211,489,000k T (.
E— —4F 1 216,181,000 JC) » M it 4 E A
IR T £ 63.6% (- F . — 4 :63.0%) » A%
H 4E 7 B AN B1.3% F 134,468,000 # T (-
T — 4 1 136,178,000 JC) © F—Htﬁf“& B
WA 7.83% E 157,174,000 50 (- F . —4E ¢
169,600,000 #5 7€) » & 6 3 & & #F #5 m 5
5,478,000 JC ( gz:éﬁ B ET29,570,000
HEIT) o AR RS B E T $15,389,000% T (—
T —4E 16,960,000 00) - EENE R LA
T Bk A5 BB AE K AT A B BUR A B I A &
715,033,000 7T °

The Group’s revenue for the year dropped by 2.2% to HK$211,489,000
(2021: HK$216,181,000) since the Group’s business was still affected by
the COVID-19 pandemic (the “Pandemic”) during the year under review.
The Group’s gross profit for the year dropped by 1.3% to HK$134,468,000
(2021: HK$136,178,000) as overall gross profit margin improved to 63.6%
(2021: 63.0%). Loss from operations for the year increased to HK$15,389,000
(2021: HK$6,960,000) despite total operating expenses reduced by 7.3%
to HK$157,174,000 (2021: HK$169,600,000) which included a write-back
of provision for claims of HK$5,478,000 (2021: provision made of
HK$9,570,000). Major attribute was a government grant income related to
the Pandemic totaling HK$15,033,000 in the previous year.

4F # 2021/22 Annual Report
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Management Discussion-and Analysis

BN AL A RE f B R E A % A 2% 3,284,000
W0 (& ——4F « 5 1H11,740,000 9 7t) > &
1 % & W) 2 A6 (5 1 It 45 6,405,000 o (- &
——4E£ 13,178,000 # JC) &ﬁ’%&%‘%%ﬂ&c
1 13,336,000 ¥ 76 (=& = —4F « 1K)

BME_EX-Z A= —HIEFEE A4
0 7 5 B4 Rt 2 3,828,000 Ut (&
— A TR B A A 4 28,461,000 0) ©
W oE O FEZA=Z+—H TR E
38,917,0008: 7T (Z & = —4F : 35,443,00047C) o

R oF D CEZHZ—H AL E IR
17 2% 19 Bl & SR AT 45 4% 55 125,739,000

JG (& T —4F 1 133,559,000 # JC) > #8 X 4
JEE B 4 7,820,000 JC o A & T T 4E = H
St —H o ALHEFAEEREABEZEFLA
ffE A 17,119,000 Jo( = F = — 4

16,475,000 # JC) °

AR R A AR N IR B M i A 2 R
5 B #% A 0 B RE & = 1Y S H 496,441,000

ot (& . — 4 1089000{7%75 » o HEAE
&Y ¥ 7 1 45,699,000 0T (T F = —4F
fi) o

A 4B R B

$%@Ltmjﬁéﬁimﬁémuiﬁﬁ:ﬁ%fﬁ
HTHMAITRE 5 HEFRMAE S - KL
T”"ziiﬂﬁf%ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ@% RPN R -

HE_F - "HF£=ZH= +~H ENEC ST N
& & 5 507,670,000 # T ( L F L — 4R
558,928,000 #k 7C) o A & Iﬁlﬁ/\ﬁiﬁz AR A

3R 5 0.126 ( 4$:~$ 0.153) - T i 4 1
£7,049,0005 0 (—F ——4F : 8864000{7%75)
K FH 5 £ 15 55,982,000 3 o6 ( T T — 4

73,756,000 # JC) K& B W 45 498 998,000«% JC
(T2 — — 4 : 538,886,000 # 7T ) 5t & - & £
[ = e S O A S Nt = A

% 55 ol

J AR 43 HB M B 5 BE 4y 158,844,000 % o6 ( &
T —4E 1 160,402,000 # 7T) - 4F A B 15 5 E6 s
154,422,000 % o0 ( = & = — 4F 4y # i A
22,071,000 0) - WE T - " HF = HIK

A S ) A RS TIT I W h a7 M B B ALK
o3 61 M A% E P AT 35 B B Bh AR F s > 518 &
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Jin 6 11 &5 B B o A% 4R [ M 4 AR AR L BROR 2 R

A4 PE A TGuy Laroche | M2 [Ashworth | 2 2
BREIGRERE - A EARBIMRKTEF 2 FEdr
i g A8 /518,518,000 J0 (& — — 4 ¢
17,820,000%5 76) » 73 ¥ 47 N Bk 15 3 A o

Profit attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company for the year
was HK$3,284,000 (2021: loss of HK$11,740,000) included net valuation
gains on investment properties of HK$6,405,000 (2021: HK$3,178,000)
and net gain on disposal of investment properties of HK$13,336,000 (2021:
HK$NIl).

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group used net cash outflow of
HK$3,828,000 (2021: generated net cash inflow of HK$28,461,000) from
operations. Inventories as at 31 March 2022 was HK$38,917,000 (2021:
HK$35,443,000).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had cash and bank deposits net of bank
overdrafts of HK$125,739,000 (2021: HK$133,559,000), representing a
decrease of HK$7,820,000. At 31 March 2022, the Group had trading
securities with fair value of HK$17,119,000 (2021: HK$16,475,000).

During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$6,441,000 (2021:
HK$1,089,000) in additions and replacement of other property, plant and
equipment excluding right-of-use assets and approximately HK$5,699,000
(2021: HK$Nil) in renovation of investment properties.

Group’s Financial Position

The Group financed its operations by internally generated cashflows and
banking facilities provided by its bankers. The Group continues to maintain
a prudent approach in managing its financial requirements.

The Group’s net assets as at 31 March 2022 were HK$507,670,000 (2021
HK$558,928,000). The Group’s gearing ratio at the end of the year was
0.126 (2021: 0.153) which was calculated based on total borrowings of
HK$7,049,000 (2021: HK$8,864,000) and leases liabilities of HK$55,982,000
(2021: HK$73,756,000) and shareholders’ equity of HK$498,998,000 (2021:
HK$538,886,000). The Group’s borrowings are mainly on a floating rate
basis.

Operations Review

Total segment sales of garment was HK$158,844,000 (2021:
HK$160,402,000) and recorded a segment loss of HK$4,422,000 (2021:
segment profit of HK$22,071,000). As at the end of March 2022, the Group
has a distribution network of 87 points of sales (“POSs”) in the Group’s
operating market comprising 35 POSs in Hong Kong, 5 POSs in Macau,
43 POSs in Mainland China and 4 POSs in Taiwan. A net increase of 6 POSs
in total POSs from the end of March 2021. The Group will remain prudent
with regard to store network expansion.

The Group owns the global intellectual property rights of Guy Laroche and
Ashworth. Total income of licensing of trademarks from external customers
was HK$18,518,000 (2021: HK$17,820,000) and this segment recorded a
profit for the year.

4F # 2021/22 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year under review, the Group disposal of certain industrial
premises held for rental in Hong Kong and thus recorded net gains on
disposal of HK$13,336,000. As at 31 March 2022, the Group holds an office
premise held for rental in London with a fair value of HK$186,806,000 and
an industrial building held for own use in Hong Kong with a net book value
of HK$6,406,000. Currently, the said industrial building is wholly occupied
by security printing section. Total rental income from outsiders for the year
dropped to HK$5,438,000 (2021: HK$7,556,000) which was mainly due to
disposal of certain industrial premises held for rental in Hong Kong and
vacancy of part of the office premise held for rental in London as the said
premise has undergone renovation work during the year.

Security printing section recorded a decrease in both sales and segment
profit from the previous year.

Outlook

The Group’s principal business market of sales of garments shows sign of
improvement. The Group has noticed that shops that have not been affected
by those COVID-19 control and preventative measures have shown a very
health recovery and a good increase in sales. During the year, some shop
leases were renewed with more reasonable rates even though mostly at
shorter terms. However, wide spread continuous increasing inflation resulted
from the Russia and Ukraine War will have adverse impact on worldwide
economy. Meanwhile, COVID-19 mutates into a more contagious variant.
As such, social and travel restrictions and mandatory quarantine or medical
surveillance orders are expected to remain in place for some time, limiting
local and tourist traffic. Even in such a retail quandary that the Group cannot
predict with certainty of our profitability, the Group will remain focus on
Mainland China and have a prudent expansion plans for Ashworth.

Law and Regulations

Law and regulations in relation to workplace quality, product safety and
environmental performance may have a material effect on the Group’s
principal activities.

Workplace Quality

The Group believes that continued business success relies on the full
contribution and support of our employees. We are dedicated to promoting
equal opportunities for all of our employees in different areas, including
recruitment, compensation and benefits, training, staff promotion, transfer,
and dismissal. Allemployees are assessed based on their ability, performance
and contribution, irrespective of their nationality, race, religion, gender, age
or family status.

The Group is committed to the health, safety and welfare of our employees.
We pledge full compliance in all occupational health and safety legislations
and we have implemented an effective and safe working environment for
our employees.

We complied with labour or other relevant legislations. We did not identify
any material non-compliance or breach of legislation related to workplace
quality.

4F # 2021/22 Annual Report
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Management Discussion-and Analysis
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Product Safety

The Group places the highest importance on the welfare of its customers
globally, as well as on its broader societal and environmental impact. The
quality and safety of our products is a vital part of this.

All products are safe and fully adhere to international environmental and
safety standards. We did not identify any material non-compliance or breach
of legislation related to product safety.

Environmental Performance

The Group is committed to protecting and sustaining the environment
through reduced consumption of electrical power.

We are committed to upholding high environmental standards to fulffill relevant
requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during the manufacturing
and material disposal processes.

We did not identify any material non-compliance or breach of relevant
standards, rules and regulations on air and greenhouse gas emission,
discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous or non-hazardous
water, etc..

Social Performance

The Group has long been committed to being a responsible corporate citizen
and actively supports various charitable organisations and causes. We
encourage staff to join our “YGM Volunteer Team” and participated in various
charitable activities to help people in need, demonstrating its corporate
social responsibility and promoting the caring culture in the society.

Environment, Social and Governance Report

An environment, social and governance report will be published on the
website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Company’s
website no later than 31 August 2022.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s businesses, financial
conditions, operational results or growth prospects leading to a divergence
from expected or historical results. Key risk factors and uncertainties affecting
the Group are outlined below. In dealing with these risk factors and
uncertainties, the Group remains in touch with our stakeholders with the
aim of understanding and addressing their concerns.

These factors are not exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be other
risks in addition to those shown below which are not known to the Group
or which may not be material now but could become material in the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Global Economy and Macro-economic Conditions

The global outlook faces significant downside risks, including heightened
geopolitical tensions, the onset of stagflation, widespread financial stress
from rising borrowing costs, and worsening food and energy insecurity. This
could eventually lead to sharp monetary tightening in advanced economies,
which could lead to financial stress in many emerging market and developing
economies. In fact, since February, the successive monetary tightening
measures introduced by the United States have had a profound impact on
the monetary policy stance of developing countries. In addition, the outlook
for the U.S. economy and its labor market is likely to remain mixed in the
near term, which could lead to further volatility in global financial markets.
Rising interest rates and the consequent rise in dollar funding costs will
translate into higher funding costs for most developing countries. The
economies of some developing countries are already very fragile after multiple
adverse external shocks including COVID-19, disruptions to global supply
chains, high international commodity prices and the war in Ukraine.

The fifth wave of local epidemic and resultant restrictive measures restricted
heavily on a wide range of economic activities as well as economic sentiment.
Looking forward, the worsened global economic prospects may continue
to weigh on Hong Kong’s retail performance. Nonetheless, cross-boundary
transportation disruptions between the Mainland and Hong Kong may
gradually ease alongside the improving local epidemic situation, thus
providing some relief to our retail trade. The new round of Consumption
Voucher Scheme, along with the 2022 Employment Support Scheme and
Temporary Unemployment Relief Scheme, will render additional support to
domestic demand. Taking into account the economic performance in the
first quarter and the latest local and global economic situation, as long as
the local epidemic situation remains under control, our retail businesses
should continue to revive.

Currency Markets

The Group’s currency exposure mainly arises from its investments outside
Hong Kong. The results of the Group are recorded in Hong Kong dollars,
however its subsidiaries outside Hong Kong receive revenue and incur
expenses in other currencies. Any currency fluctuations that occur during
the progress of translation of the results of these subsidiaries or during the
repatriation of earnings, equity investments and loans may have an impact
on the Group’s results.

Impact of Local, National and International Regulations

Local business risks specific to individual countries and cities where the
Group operates could have a material impact on its financing conditions,
operating results and growth prospects.

The Group is, and may increasingly become, exposed to different and
changing political, social, legal, tax, regulatory and listing requirements at
the local, national and international level. New policies or measures by
governments, whether fiscal, tax or regulatory, may pose a risk to the returns
delivered by the Group’s business and may delay or prevent the commercial
operational of an individual business, with a resulting loss in revenue and
profit.

The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring changes in
government policies and legislation. Adequate risk mitigation measures are
in place and are constantly reviewed for enhancement.
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Employment and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had approximately 370 employees (31
March 2021: 400 employees). The Group offers competitive remuneration
packages including medical subsidies and retirement scheme contributions
to its employees in compensation for their contribution. In addition,
discretionary bonuses may also be granted to the eligible employees based
on the Group’s and individuals’ performances.

Relationship with Suppliers

Fair and Open Competition

The Group promotes fair and open competition that aims to develop long-
term relationships with suppliers based on mutual trust.

Public Interest and Accountability

The procurement from suppliers or services providers is conducted in a
manner consistent with the highest ethical standards. This helps assure high
quality products at all times to gain the confidence of customers, suppliers
and the public.

Procurement Procedures
The subcontracting and the purchase of goods are based solely on need,

quality and price. This ensures compliance with procurement policies and
fosters positive and open competition.

Relationship with Customers

Customer Services

The Group seeks to provide efficient and courteous customer service to
maintain customer satisfaction and co-operation. Customers have access
to information about the operation and development of the Group through
annual reports. The Group shall not make any misrepresentation,
exaggeration or overstatement.

Pricing Policies

The Group believes in the economic system of the free market, in which
price is determined by supply and demand. The Group also seeks to provide
customers with the highest quality products at fair prices which allow the
Group a reasonable profit in relation to the value provided.

Important Event After the End of The Reporting
Period

There is no important event affecting the Group which has occurred since
the end of the reporting period.
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Corporate Governance Report

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is dedicated to uphold
a high corporate governance standard. The Board firmly believes that the
principles of transparency, accountability and independence are essential
for protecting the interests of the Company and maximising shareholder
value.

The Company has complied with the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the financial year ended
31 March 2022, except for the deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the
Code, pursuant to which the non-executive directors of the Company should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. The non-executive
directors of Company are not appointed for a specific term but are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election requirements at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with Articles 96 and 105 of the
Company’s articles of association.

Board of Directors

The Board is committed to act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board sets overall objectives and
strategic directions of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “the
Group”), monitors and evaluates its operating and financial performance. It
also decides on matters relating to annual and interim results, audited
financial statements, notifiable transactions, appointment and re-appointment
of directors, major acquisitions and disposals, material contracts, risk
management, major financings and borrowings, accounting and dividends
policies. The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Company to the
management of the Group and also instructs the management to implement
the Board’s decisions and resolutions. In addition, the Board has also
delegated various responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee.

As at 31 March 2022, The Board comprises six executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors. The number of independent
non-executive directors represents at least one-third of the Board in
accordance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The independent non-
executive directors bring a diverse range of expertise, skills and experience
to provide effective guidance and an outside perspective to all major
decisions of the Group.

Details of backgrounds and qualifications of the directors as well as
relationships between them are set out in the section of “Directors and
Management”.

The Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Risk Management Committee had held 4, 3, 1, 1 and 1
meetings respectively in the year under review.
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The attendance at the Board and respective Board Committees meetings
held in the year ended 31 March 2022 are as follows:

L B 45 B
ZHA
ERZHA FMZHA RLEZAEA Risk BHEKE
HHH Audit Remuneration Nomination Management General
Board Committee = Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee  Meeting
H 17 & F Executive Directors
Bk 5 Chan Wing Sun, Samuel 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1
& B Chan Suk Ling, Shirley 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/1
7K & Fu Sing Yam, William 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/1
B A A Andrew Chan 3/4 N/A N/A N/A 01 i
Bk %8 Chan Wing Fui, Peter 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 N/A 11
bRk # Chan Wing Kee 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 11
W FE# 17 % FF  Independent Non-executive Directors
B Choi Ting Ki 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1 N/A 1/1
R So Stephen Hon Cheung 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1 N/A 1/1
W Li Guangming 4/4 3/3 11 11 N/A 11
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R G HERE o RATBGRERGRS
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During the year, the 2021 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) was held on 17
September 2021. The directors’ attendance to the general meeting is listed
out on page 11. The Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of each of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and
Risk Management Committee and the external auditor of the Company
attended the AGM to answer questions raised by shareholders. Proceedings
of annual general meeting are reviewed from time to time to ensure that the
Company follows good corporate governance practices. Voting results were
posted on the Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s website on the day of
the AGM.

Each of the independent non-executive directors has confirmed with the
Company in writing his independence from the Company in accordance
with the relevant guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee and the Board considered that all independent non-
executive directors of the Company are independent with reference to Rule
3.13.
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Corporate Governance Policy and Duties

The Board is committed to ensure that at good corporate governance
framework and practices are established within the Group. The Board is
responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance functions
as required under code provision D.3.1 of the Code which are set out below:

(

—

) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the board;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(8) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors; and

(5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in

the Corporate Governance Report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company is Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William. The roles of
the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
are separated, with a clear division of responsibilities. The Chairman of the
Board is responsible for formulating corporate strategies and overall business
development planning. The Chief Executive Officer’s duty is to oversee the
execution of daily business activities. The division of responsibilities at the
Board level is to ensure a balance of power and authority.

Directors’ Training

According to code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging
and funding suitable training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of the directors. The Company provides tailored
induction programme to new director upon his appointment to equip him
with the appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Group and to ensure that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and
obligations under the relevant law and the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Company organized one in-house seminar to update
the Directors on the new amendments to the corporate governance code
and relevant Listing Rules. The Company circulates materials relating to the
legislative and regulatory environment to the directors on a regular basis for
their information. The Company also encourages directors to attend relevant
seminars, conferences or forums to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skill. During the year, all directors participated in contained professional
development in compliance with code provision A.6.5 of the Code.

4F # 2021/22 Annual Report
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Directors’ Insurance

During the year, the Company has arranged for the renewal of an insurance
policy on directors’ and officers’ liability to ensure our directors and senior
management are protected from any liability arising from the performance
of their duties.

Board Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee, each with mandate to oversee particular aspects of the affairs
of the Company. Each of these four Board committees is set up with written
terms of reference. The Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstance at the expenses of the
Company.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference. As at 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So
Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. So Stephen
Hon Cheung. The members’ attendance to the Audit Committee meeting
is listed out on page 11.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for monitoring the integrity of
the Company’s financial statements, reviewing the Company’s internal control
system and its execution through the review of the work undertaken by the
internal and external auditors, evaluating financial information and related
disclosure, reviewing connected transactions and considering the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee has, inter alia,
reviewed and discussed with management and the external auditor the
interim and annual results with a view to ensuring that the Group’s financial
statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The Audit Committee has met with external auditor
twice a year, in the absence of management, to discuss any issues arising
from the audit and any other matters the auditor may wish to raise. The
Audit Committee has also reviewed the independence and quality of work
of KPMG and has recommended to the Board to re-appoint KPMG as
auditor for the year ending 31 March 2023.

During the year, the Board has not taken any view that is different from that
of the Audit Committee nor rejected any recommendation presented by the
Audit Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

As at 31 March 2022, the Committee comprises two executive directors,
namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, and
three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So
Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. Li
Guangming. The members’ attendance to the Remuneration Committee
meeting is listed out on page 11.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal and
transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies and in
overseeing remuneration packages of the directors. It makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package of individual
executive directors and senior management. It takes into consideration
factors such as salaries and compensation packages paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the directors. It would
also take into account whether the emoluments offered are appropriate
given the duties and performance of the respective individuals concerned
and whether such emoluments are competitive and sufficiently attractive to
retain such individuals.

Details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

As at 31 March 2022, the Nomination Committee comprises two executive
directors, namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel,
and three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Choi Ting Ki,
Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr.
Choi Ting Ki. The members’ attendance to the Nomination Committee is
listed out on page 11.

The roles of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board, identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board, and assess the independence of independent non-
executive directors and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and re-election of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executives. The Nomination
Committee will consider the suitability of the candidate on the basis of his
professional qualification, skills, experience and background.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which
sets out a policy of considering a number of factors when deciding on
appointments to the Board and the continuation of those appointments,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional
experience. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
(considering factors like skills, knowledge and experience) that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board noted that the measurable objectives have been set for achieving
diversity on the Board. In addition, the Board is satisfied that its composition
is appropriate being considered the skills, experience and attributes of the
Directors. The Nomination Committee of the Company will monitor the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and review the policy as
appropriate.
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Nomination Committee performed
the following work:

(i)  reviewing the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity, and the Board diversity policy
of the Board;

(i) assessed the independence of independent non-executive directors:

(i) made recommendations to the Board on the appointment and re-
appointment of Directors; and

(iv) reviewed the directors nomination policy of the Company.

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee comprises four executive directors,
namely Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, Mr.
Fu Sing Yam, William and Mr. Andrew Chan. It is chaired by Mr. Chan Wing
Sun, Samuel. The members’ attendance to the Risk Management Committee
meeting is listed out on page 11.

The purpose of the Committee is to oversee the overall design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and the internal
control systems of the Group and to advise the Board on the Group’s risk-
related matters.

Dividend Policy

The Company has established a Dividend Policy which was adopted by the
Board to set out the guidelines for the Board to determine (i) whether
dividends are to be declared and paid; and (i) the level of the dividend to
be paid to the shareholders. It is the policy to allow the shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst to retain adequate reserves for
future growth.

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

(i)  financial results;

(i)  cash flow situation:

(i)  business conditions and strategies;

(iv) future operations and earning;

(v) capital requirements and expenditure plans;
(vi) interests of shareholders;

(vii)

(viil)

any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined at
the sole discretion of the Board and subject to the Articles of Association
of the Company and all applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right
in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the
Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute
a legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid
in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare
a dividend at any time or from time to time.

4F $ 2021/22 Annual Report
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Emoluments of Senior Management

The Senior management of the Group comprises 4 individuals. Details of
backgrounds and qualifications of each senior management are set out in
the section of “Directors and Management”.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the emoluments of the senior
management of the Group fell within the following bands :

WAL B H
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Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities in respect
of the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are
prepared in accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards.

The statement of external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities of the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’'s Report” on pages 29 to 38.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, total auditors’ remuneration in relation to audit services for
the Group amounted to HK$2,574,000 (2021: HK$2,198,000) of which a
sum of HK$1,566,000 (2021: HK$1,578,000) was paid or payable to the
Group’s principal auditors, KPMG.

The remunerations paid or payable to the Group’s principal auditor, KPMG
and its affiliated firms, for services rendered in audit and non-audit were
HK$1,566,000 (2021: HK$1,578,000) and HK$206,000 (2021: HK$207,000)
respectively. The non-audit services principally comprise of tax and review
services provided to the Group.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a Securities Dealing Code regarding director’s
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than required standard set
out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.
All directors have confirmed, upon specific enquiry by the Company, that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and its Securities Dealing Code throughout the year under review.
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Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management framework,
and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s objectives. Audit Committee is delegated with overseeing the
effectiveness of internal control and risk management, while management
is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems. The Risk Management Committee is responsible for coordinating
risk management activities, and to report at least annually to the Board.
However, the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment of
principal risks from the external and internal environments at different
organisation levels. The assessment considers the changes in nature and
extent of significant risks and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in
its business and the external environment. Action plans have been developed
and risk ownership has been assigned for each key principal risk. The risk
owners coordinate the mitigation measures to ensure proper implementation
of these action plans. The process is closely monitored by the Risk
Management Committee.

Taken into consideration the principal risks and mitigation actions, the Board
believes that the Company has the ability to respond to any such changes
in our business and the external environment, and considers that the Group’s
risk management and internal control system was effective and adequate.

Regarding the disclosure of inside information, the Board had implemented
procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information so that potential inside information can be promptly identified
and escalated up for deciding whether an announcement should be made
in order to ensure compliance with the continuous obligations under the
Listing Rules and the statutory obligation to disclose information under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”).

Internal Audit Function

During the year under review, the Board has engaged an external consultant
to perform internal audit services. The external consultant has assisted the
Group to perform a review of the effectiveness of internal controls system
for certain selected processes. The assessment results and proposed
improvement opportunities were discussed and agreed with management
and were reported to the Audit Committee.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has day-to-
day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary is
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or the Vice
Chairman on governance matters and also facilitates the induction and
professional development of directors. The Company Secretary also keeps
proper records of all Board and Committee meetings. The biography of the
Company Secretary is set out on page 28. The Company Secretary has
undertaken no less than 15 hours of professional training during the year.

4F $ 2021/22 Annual Report
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Shareholders’ Right

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”)

Article 67 of the articles of association of the Company provides that an
EGM shall be convened on requisition, as provided by the Companies
Ordinance. According to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the
directors of the Company are required call a general meeting if the Company
has received requests to do so from shareholders representing at least 5%
of the total voting rights of all shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings of the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at EGM

Pursuant to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the request for a
general meeting must state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. The request may
be sent to the Company in hard copy form at the registered office of the
Company or in electronic form at cs_info@ygmtrading.com and must be
authenticated by the requisitionist(s). The directors must call a general
meeting within 21 days after the date of the receipt of the requests to do
s0. The meeting called must be held on a date not more than 28 days after
the date of the notice convening the meeting.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through the Company
Secretary who will direct the enquiries to the Board for handling. The contact
details of the Company Secretary are as follows:

The Company Secretary
YGM Trading Limited

22 Tai Yau Street,

San Po Kong,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong

E-Mail: cs_info@ygmtrading.com
Telephone: (852) 2351 1111
Facsimile: (852) 2351 5211

Changes in the Company’s constitutional documents

No amendments are made to the articles of association of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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The directors submit herewith their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and the
provision of management services. Particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out on pages 110 to 111. Further discussion and analysis
of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be
found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 4 to 9
of this Annual Report. This discussion forms part of this director’s report.

Segment Information

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the financial year are set out in note 4 to the
financial statements.

Dividends

An interim dividend of 10 HK cents (2021: nil) per ordinary share was
dispatched to shareholders on 4 January 2022.

The directors recommend to shareholders the payment of a final dividend
of 5 HK cents (2021: 10 HK cents) per ordinary share for the year ended
31 March 2022 which, if approved by the shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, is expected to be paid on or around 17 October
2022,

Share Capital

Details of the movements of the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 24(c) to the financial statements. There were no
movements during the year.

Five Year Financial Highlights

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
fiscal years is set out on page 2.

Properties

Particulars of the major properties and property interests of the Group are
set out in note 11 to the financial statements.
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Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2022 are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

Charitable Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$306,000 (2021: HK$66,000).

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the Group’s sales to its five largest customers and purchases
from its five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s
turnover and purchases respectively.

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had any interest in these
major customers and suppliers.

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley
Fu Sing Yam, William
Andrew Chan

Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chan Wing Kee

Independent Non-executive Directors
Choi Ting Ki

So Stephen Hon Cheung

Li Guangming

A full list of the names of the directors of the Group’s subsidiaries can be
found in the Company’s website at www.ygmtrading.com under “Investor
Relations/Corporate Governance”.

Pursuant to Article 105 of the Company’s articles of association, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the directors of the Company for the
time being or such higher number of the directors of the Company to be
determined by the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every directors of the Company
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. The board of directors of the
Company decided that four directors, Mr. Andrew Chan, Madam Chan Suk
Ling, Shirley, Mr. Chan Wing Kee and Mr. Choi Ting Ki will retire from the
Board by rotation and Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, Mr. Chan Wing Kee
and Mr. Choi Ting Ki, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Mr. Andrew Chan, after serving as an executive director of the Company for
more than 8 years since 2 July 2014, will not offer himself for re-election
and will retire as an executive directors of the Company at the conclusion
of the forthcoming annual general meeting, and will cease to be the managing
director of the Board. Mr. Chan has informed the Board that he would not
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting due
to his other business engagements which requires of his dedications. Mr.
Chan has confirmed that his retirement is not due to any disagreement with
the Board and there is no other matter relating to his retirement that needs
to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

The Board would like to thank Mr. Andrew Chan for his contribution to the
Company during his tenure of office.

Biographical details of the directors of the Company as at the date of this
report are set out on pages 25 to 28 of this annual report. Further information
of the directors standing for re-election proposed to be re-elected are set
out in the circular.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors a confirmation of their respective independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”) and the Company considers the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

Directors’ interests in Transaction, Arrangement
and Contracts

Apart from the details disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company,
or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Service Contract

The independent non-executive directors were appointed by the board of
directors and their remuneration is determined by the board of directors,
see section headed ‘Compliance with the Code of Best Practice’.

None of the directors who has offered himself for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any other member of the Group which
is not determinable by the relevant employer within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares
and Underlying Shares

The directors and chief executive of the Company who held office at 31
March 2022 had the following interests in the issued shares of the Company,
its subsidiaries and other associated corporations (within the meaning of
the SFO at that date as recorded in the register of directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions required to be kept under section
352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”):
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% H
Number of Ordinary Shares
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Personal Family Corporate Other
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EZRIS Andrew Chan 392,000 - - -
bRk 22 Chan Wing Fui, Peter 24,068 13,072,830 - (i) & (i)
i i L Chan Wing Kee 9,346,776 1,012,035 - (i), (i) & (iii)

() 36,791,700 & 4% /A & B 43 J5 1 Chan Family
Investment Corporation Limited ( #1 B 7k #
Je A~ Bk SR e A~ R EE e A~ TR BRI
¥ A A Fe FL At R IS K i B HER) B I it
AR -

120,400 X 4~ 24 ®] Mk {5 J5 B Hearty
Investments Limited ¥ A © #% A &l t B 7k
ML A~ B OK B R TR BRI L K&
HoAh B IC ZR B B -

(i)

1,597,000 B A< 23 &) By 735 1 Super Team
International Limited 5 A ° 5% 2 & H B 7k
MESE A R HoAth BR EC R i B 4 EF -

B Rl B @A R FE  E=H=+—H >
Ay F)HE S A AE 2 WO A AE AR A T
T LA B 2N )~ B 2 D s AH B B 3 R
B 5 N M B W 0 SR XV BB ) 1A JBE 4~ A B R A M
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(i)

(i) 36,791,700 shares of the Company were held by Chan Family
Investment Corporation Limited (which is owned by Messrs Chan Wing
Kee, Chan Wing Sun, Samuel and Fu Sing Yam, William, Madam Chan
Suk Ling, Shirley and other members of the Chan family) and its
subsidiaries.

(i) 120,400 shares of the Company were held by Hearty Investments

Limited which is indirectly owned by Messrs Chan Wing Kee, Chan

Wing Sun, Samuel and Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and other

members of the Chan family.

(i) 1,597,000 shares of the Company were held by Super Team

International Limited which is indirectly owned by Messrs Chan Wing

Kee and other members of the Chan family.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the directors or
their associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short position
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
holding company, subsidiaries or other associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO; or as notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers contained | Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.
Furthermore, save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31
March 2022 was the Company or any of its holding company, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a partly to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.
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Substantial Shareholder’s Interest

As at 31 March 2022, the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO showed that, other than the interests
disclosed above in respect of the directors, no other interests required to
be recorded in the register kept under section 336 of the SFO have been
notified to the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, the directors are not aware of any person who
was, directly or indirectly, interested or had a short position in the shares or
underlying shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or, was directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value
of the issued share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meeting of the Company or any options in respect of such capital
as at 31 March 2022.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
March 2022.

Connected Transactions

Details of the connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
are set out in note 27(b) to the financial statements. In the opinion of the
independent non-executive directors, these transactions were entered into
by the Group:

(i)  inthe ordinary and usual course of its business;

(i)  conducted either on normal commercial terms (which expression will
be applied by reference to transactions of a similar nature and to be
made by similar entities) or, where there is no available comparison,
on terms that are fair and reasonable so far as the independent
shareholders of the Company are concerned;

(i) in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing the
transactions; and

(iv)  inaccordance with the pricing policies of the Group, where applicable.

KPMG, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. KPMG have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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Directors’ Report

Apart from the foregoing, no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

Compliance with the Code of Best Practice

The Company has complied throughout the year with the Code of Best
Practice as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except that the non-
executive directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term
but are subject to rotation in annual general meetings pursuant to Articles
96 and 105 of the Company’s articles of association.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive directors
and reports to the board of directors. The audit committee meets with the
Group’s senior management and external auditors regularly to review the
effectiveness of the internal control systems and the annual report of the
Group.

Sufficiency Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, the Company
has maintained the prescribed public float required under the Listing Rules.

Auditor

KPMG will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the Company is to
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board
Chan Wing Sun, Samuel
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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Directors

Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, aged 74, received a Bachelor’s degree from
the University of Manchester, the United Kingdom in 1970 and qualified as
a Chartered Accountant in 1973. He was the company secretary of
Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294) from 1974 to 1988 and
has been an executive director since 1977. Mr. Chan was the Managing
Director of the Company from 1987 to 2006 and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company from 2006 to 2010. He was the Vice Chairman of the board
of director of the Company from 2010 and was re-designated as the
Chairman of the board of director of the Company in September 2015. Mr.
Chan has been the chairman of the board of director of Crater Gold Mining
Limited, whose shares are listed on Australian Securities Exchange, since
2013.

Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, B8S, JP, is the Vice Chairman of the board
of director of the Company. She joined Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock
code: 294) in 1973 and appointed as the director in 1983. Madam Chan
resigned as the executive director in April 2020 and was re-appointed as
an executive director with effective from 31 March 2021. Madam Chan,
aged 71, has extensive experience of management in the garment retail and
wholesale business. She is a Council Member of the Hong Kong Trade
Development Council (‘HKTDC”), the Chairman of Staff & Finance Committee
of HKTDC, the Honorary President of the Chinese Manufacturers’ Association
of Hong Kong, the Chairman Emeritus of Hong Kong Brand Development
Council, the Vice President of the Guangdong Association of Enterprises
with Foreign Investment, a Council Member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University (“PolyU”), the Chairman of Advisory Committee on Textile and
Clothing Industries of PolyU and the Supervisor of Yau Yat Chuen School.
She received a Bachelor’'s degree from Nottingham Trent University, the
United Kingdom in 1973.

Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William, aged 60, received a Bachelor’s degree from the
University of Western Ontario, Canada in 1984 and joined the Group in
1985. Mr. Fu has been an Executive Director of the Company since 1995.
He was the Deputy Managing Director of the Company from 2006 to 2010
and was the Managing Director since 2010. Mr. Fu was re-designated as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in September 2015. He has
extensive experience in fashion retailing, wholesaling, marketing and
merchandising. He is a Committee Member of the Heilongjiang Provincial
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. Andrew Chan, aged 44, received a Bachelor’s degree in economics
from the University of Hartford, the USA in 2003 and joined the Group in
the same year. Mr. Chan has been an Executive Director of the Company
since 2014 and was re-designated as the Managing Director in September
2015. He has extensive experience in international brand licensing and
fashion retailing in Far East, the USA and Europe.
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Directors and Management

Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, MA, aged 76, received a Master’'s degree in
Administrative Science from Yale University, USA in 1969 and joined
Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294) in the same year. He was
appointed as the director and managing director of Yangtzekiang Garment
Limited in 1971 and 1980 respectively and Vice Chairman of the board of
directors of both Yangtzekiang Garment Limited and the Company in 1987.
Mr. Chan'is at present the Chairman of the board of directors of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited. He was the Chairman of the board of directors of the
Company from 2010 to 2015. Mr. Chan has been actively involved in garment
manufacturing and marketing in the Far East and the USA for over 40 years.

Mr. Chan Wing Kee, GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 75, received a Bachelor’s
degree in Industrial Engineering in 1970 and joined Yangtzekiang Garment
Limited (stock code: 294) in 1970 as production manager and later became
sales manager. Mr. Chan was appointed as director of Yangtzekiang Garment
Limited in 1977 and managing director in 1987. Mr. Chan has been an
Executive Director of the Company since 1987. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Kingboard Holdings Limited (stock code: 148).
Mr. Chan has participated in many textile negotiations with the USA and
Europe for Hong Kong and Macau. He is a Standing Committee Member
of The 10th, 11th and 12th of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference; Deputy of the 8th and 9th National People’s Congress of Ching;
Ex-member of Commission on Strategic Development of HKSAR; Ex-
member of Economic Council of Macau Special Administrative Region;
Ex-member of the Textile Advisory Board of Hong Kong; Ex-Committee
Member of the Preparatory Committee for Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region and Ex-Advisor of Hong Kong Affairs.

Mr. Choi Ting Ki, aged 67, is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. In 1978, Mr. Choi graduated from the
Department of Accounting of the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known
as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University). He joined KPMG in the same
year and has held various positions, including partner of the audit department
of KPMG Hong Kong Office, Managing Partner of KPMG Shanghai Office,
Senior Partner of KPMG Huazhen Shanghai Office as well as Senior Partner
of KPMG Huazhen in Eastern and Western China. Mr. Choi retired from
KPMG Huazhen in April 2010. Mr. Choi has been an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since December 2012. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock
code: 294).
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Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung, aged 66, has been a director of an accounting
firm T.M. Ho So & Leung CPA Limited since August 2003. Currently, he is
the chief financial officer and company secretary of Ying Kee Tea House
Group Limited (Stock code on GEM: 8241) He has extensive experience in
the commercial sector of manufacturing, wholesale and trading and in public
practice working for various companies in Hong Kong, China and Canada.
He holds a bachelor degree in commerce from the University of British
Columbia, Canada. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada and a member of the Society of Management
Accountants of Canada. Mr. So has been an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company since September 2017. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 294),
since September 2017, Pinestone Capital Limited (stock code: 804) since
May 2015 and PINE Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 1079) since
September 2002, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. So was an independent non-executive director of Milan
Station Holdings Limited (stock code: 1150) from May 2011 to February
2017 and Teamway International Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1239)
from August 2017 to June 2019, the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Li Guangming, aged 70, has over 40 years’ experience in the cotton
textile industry. He was appointed as deputy chief of No. 1 Cotton Textile
Factory of Wuxi City in July 1984 and chief of factory in February 1991. He
has held various positions in Wuxi City Guolian Development (Group)
Company Limited and its subsidiaries. Among other things, he was appointed
as the general manager of Wuxi Guolian Textile Group Company Limited
(now known as Wuxi No.1 Cotton Textile Group Company Limited) in October
2005, and subsequently served as the Chairman of its board until December
2014. Mr. Li graduated from Wuxi Professional University (now known as
Jiangnan University) and was a member of the Standing Committee of Wuxi
Municipal People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Li has
been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since January
2018. He is also an independent non-executive director of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited (stock code: 294).
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Directors and Management

Directors’ relationship with other Directors, senior
management, substantial or controlling shareholders of
the Company

Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Madam Chan
Suk Ling, Shirley are siblings.

Mr. Chan Wing Kee is the cousins of Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr. Chan
Wing Fui, Peter and Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley.

Mr. Andrew Chan is the son of Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter.

Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William is the cousin of Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr.
Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and Mr. Chan Wing
Kee.

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors do not have any relationship with
any Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling shareholders
of the Company.

Management

Mr. Kenneth Hung, aged 55, joined the Group in 1992. Director of Michel
René Enterprises Limited. Mr. Hung graduated from the University of
Minnesota in the USA and has extensive experience in the apparel retailing
industry.

Mr. Hendrik H Penndorf, aged 58, joined the Group in 2007 and was
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer (Directeur General) of Societe Guy
Laroche and the Director of GL Europa S.A.. Mr. Penndorf, trained as a retail
trader, received a MBA degree at Hamburg University, Germany. He worked
for 15 years in senior management of a German department store chain
group based in Hamburg, Germany in various capacities from buying and
merchandising of fashion. He was the general manager of the department
store chain group. Before joining the Group. Mr. Penndorf worked for 2 years
as the managing director of Euro China Group Hong Kong which is a
boutique consultancy with mainly European blue chip clients.

Mr. Kwok Ying Tung, FCPA, FCCA, FCA, ACG, HKACG, aged 59, joined
the Group in 2003 and was appointed as the Company Secretary and
Financial Controller of the Company in March 2018. Mr. Kwok is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a fellow
member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, a
member of The Chartered Governance Institute and a member of The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute. He holds a master degree of
Corporate Governance and a master degree in Business Administration.
Mr. Kwok has over 20 years of experience in fashion garment manufacturing,
retail and wholesale in China and has extensive experience in general
administration, accounting and finance field.

Mr. Ngai Kwai Yung, FCPA, FCPA(Aust.), MBA, aged 64, is the Managing
Director of Hong Kong Security Printing Limited. Mr. Ngai holds a Bachelor
of Commerce degree and a Master degree in Business Administration. He
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of CPA Australia.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
YGM Trading Limited

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of YGM Trading
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages
39 to 111, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of retail stores

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and accounting policies in note 1j)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Local economic conditions affect customer numbers and
spending power such that the revenue generated from each
retail store fluctuates during the lease term. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, certain of the Group’s retail stores were
underperforming which indicated the carrying amounts of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of these
retail stores may not be recoverable and required assessment
of impairment.

The recoverable amounts of cash generating units (“CGUs”),
to which property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
of these retail stores were allocated, were determined by
management on a store-by-store basis. In determining value-
in-use, discounted cash flow forecasts are prepared by the
management.

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of retail stores
included the following:

e comparing the actual results of the CGUs for the current
year with the forecasts adopted by management in the
discounted cash flow forecasts for the prior year to assess
the effectiveness of management’s forecasting process,
making enquiries of management as to the reasons for
any significant variations identified and considering if there
was any indication of management bias;

e assessing and challenging the Group’s impairment
assessment model. This included challenging
management’s identification of impairment indicators and

CGUs;
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of retail stores

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(j)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We identified the impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets of retail stores to be a key audit matter
because future cash flows and profits of the retail stores are
inherently uncertain and the significant judgements and
estimates used in the impairment assessments.

e  evaluating the key assumptions used in the discounted
cash flow forecasts prepared by management by
comparing significant inputs such as future revenue and
future profit margin of the respective retail stores with the
historical performance of respective retail stores and other
available third-party information;

e  evaluating the discount rates used in the discounted cash
flow forecasts by benchmarking against other comparable
companies in the market;

o performing sensitivity analysis of the future revenue and
discount rates adopted in the discounted cash flow
forecasts prepared by management and assessing the
impact of changes in the key assumptions to the
conclusion reached in the impairment assessment; and

e considering the reasonableness of the Group’s disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of
impairment testing of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets of retail stores, with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Impairment of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and accounting policies in note 1j)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives amount to HK$133,442,000, which
represent trademarks acquired by the Group in prior years.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs to which trademarks
were allocated, which are the higher of the fair value less costs
of disposal and their value-in-use, are estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

In order to determine the recoverable amounts, management
prepared discounted cash flow forecasts and engaged an
external valuer to assess the valuations of the trademarks. The
discounted cashflow forecasts used to assess the risk of
impairment is based on a number of key assumptions, including
estimations of future revenue, terminal growth rates and the
discount rates applied.

We identified the impairment of intangible assets to be a key
audit matter because the preparation of discounted cash flow
forecasts involves significant management judgement, which
could be subjective.

Our audit procedures to assess whether impairment of
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives included the
following:

e assessing and challenging the Group’s impairment
assessment model, including management’s identification
of the CGUs;

e comparing the actual results of the CGUs for the current
year with the forecasts adopted by management in the
discounted cash flow forecasts for the prior year to assess
the effectiveness of management’s forecasting process,
making enquiries of management as to the reasons for
any significant variations identified and considering if there
was any indication of management bias;

e  obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared
by the external valuer engaged by the Group and
assessing the independence, qualifications, expertise and
objectivity of the independent external valuer;
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Impairment of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and accounting policies in note 1j)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

discussing with the external valuer and evaluating the
valuation methodology adopted with reference to the
prevailing accounting standards and assessing the
discount rates, with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialists;

challenging the key assumptions used in the discounted
cash flow forecasts prepared by management such as
future revenue, terminal growth rates with the historical
performance of the relevant CGUs and other available
third-party information;

performing sensitivity analysis of the discount rates and
terminal growth rates adopted in the discounted cash flow
forecasts prepared by management and assessing the
impact of changes in the key assumptions to the
conclusion reached in the impairment assessment and
considering whether there were any indicators of
management bias; and

considering the reasonableness of the Group’s disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of its
impairment assessment of the intangible assets with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Net realisable value of inventories

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(k).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

As at 31 March 2022, the inventories of the Group amounted
to HK$38,917,000. Inventories are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value (“NRV”) in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

Sales of inventories in the fashion industry can be volatile due
to changing fashion trends, consumer demand and economic
conditions.

The changing tastes and patterns of consumption of customers
require the Group to periodically review its inventory portfolio
and dispose of off-season inventories at a markdown from the
original price to maintain the strength of the brands and make
room for new season inventories in its retail stores.

The Executive Director and senior members of the sales team
review the full inventory list regularly to identify inventories which
may need to be discounted in order to increase their chances
of being sold. Key data used in this review process includes
sales volume history and ageing patterns of inventories.

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of inventories
included the following:

e  assessing whether the inventory provision at the reporting
date was consistent with the Group’s inventory provisioning
policy by recalculating the inventory provision based on
the percentages of inventory costs and other parameters
in the Group’s inventory provisioning policy;

e assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
inventory ageing report were classified within the
appropriate ageing bracket;

e assessing the Group’s inventory provisioning policy by
comparing the amounts of inventories which will be unsold
at the end of the reporting period with historical sales data
for the current and prior years;
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Net realisable value of inventories

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(k).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We identified the NRV of inventories as a key audit matter
because significant judgements and assumptions are involved
by management in estimating the amounts of inventories which
will be unsold at the end of each reporting period and the
markdowns necessary to sell such off-season inventories on
a discounted basis through outlets and other channels in the
following years.

e comparing the carrying amount of the inventories at the
reporting date to their NRV by reviewing the sales of
inventories subsequent to the reporting date;

e comparing inventory balances by season against
respective balances in prior years and the movement by
season against historical movements to identify inventories
which are relatively slow moving; and

e  enquiring of the Executive Director and senior members
of the sales team about any expected changes in plans
for markdowns or disposals of off-season inventories and
comparing their representations with actual sales
transactions subsequent to the reporting date.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

e  FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Cheng Pui Ngar.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

29 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

#E ZF 24 = J] =+ — H Ik 4F ¥ For the year ended 31 March 2022
(L4 i e 51 71~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(! 2022 2021

Note $°000 $°000
WA Revenue 3&4 211,489 216,181
BB RO B H B A Cost of sales and direct costs (77,021) (80,003)
LA Gross profit 134,468 136,178
HC A i 21 1 R Other net gain 5 7,317 26,462
o3 S A Distribution costs (106,656) (100,290)
A7 B B HAth 58 45 2 Administrative and other operating expenses (50,518) (69,310)
fogog 7F | Loss from operations (15,389) (6,960)
5 & W) 2 Al (8 Ui 45 1 B Net valuation gains on investment properties 11(a) 6,405 3,178
EH B G 20 A T R Net gain on disposal of investment properties 11(f) 13,336 -
fil R A Finance costs 6(a) (2,379) (3,182)
B3 BE Wi & A, O5 ) Profit/(loss) before taxation 6 1,973 (6,964)
TS Bk S, (2 ) Income tax credit/(expenses) 7(a) 167 (4,718)
A AR B e A O 81 Profit/(loss) for the year 2,140 (11,682)
g - Attributable to:
EN/NEIL ETY g Equity shareholders of the Company 3,284 (11,740)
I e I HE 22 Non-controlling interests (1,144) 58
A4 BRI Ol 47 Profit/(loss) for the year 2,140 (11,682)
BIRBA 7 FER) Earnings/(loss) per share 10
TR T 1 v Basic and diluted $0.02 $(0.07)

A4 E T WAL AR B B R 2 — a8 e & The notes on pages 44 to 111 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends
A B A AR 23 TR 2 IR R 1Y L 1R B B e 4 24(b) payable to equity shareholders of the Company are set out in note 24(b).
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
#EZF Z4F = H = A — H Ik AF E Forthe year ended 31 March 2022
(L oc 1 7R~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2022 2021
$°000 $'000
AR ERA O H) Profit/(loss) for the year 2,140 (11,682)
7 AR B 04l 2 i M 3% (M BR B UE B2 . Other comprehensive income for the year (after
oKk, &8 LER) tax and reclassification adjustment of $Nil)
7% W] BE # A 40 M 1R Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit
ZIHHA - or loss:
55 s DL AN A W Exchange differences on translation of
Yo S Sk R i A AR financial statements of subsidiaries
HEE 5, 22 % outside Hong Kong (5,884) 12,813
7 AF B I b 2 i M A Other comprehensive income for the year (5,884) 12,813
7% A B A T MK 2 A Total comprehensive income for the year (3,744) 1,131
08 - Attributable to:
A ) HE fi JB R Equity shareholders of the Company (2,835) 791
I I HE 45 Non-controlling interests (909) 340
7 A B A W MK 2 A Total comprehensive income for the year (3,744) 1,131
FAGH BFEINTHZ Wit B R B L Z — B0 - The notes on pages 44 to 111 form part of these financial statements.

4F # 2021/22 Annual Report

40



41

& oa W B ok B

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
N T O 4E = H =+ — H At 31 March 2022
(L4 e 1 71~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Wit 5 2022 2021
Note $°000 $'000
I it Wy ¥ Non-current assets
BEY) Investment properties 11 186,806 265,024
AWy 2~ W5 T w M Other property, plant and equipment 11 53,042 48,532
_ 239,848 313,556
Y & Intangible assets 12 133,442 133,442
fH 65 HE 2 1 Lease premium 13 _ _
4 4% 4 Rental deposits 4,415 7,950
A JIE B IE Deferred tax assets 22() 281 243
377,986 455,191
T /R 7 Current assets
ERE & &5 Trading securities 14 17,119 16,475
1+ 5 Inventories 15(a) 38,917 35,443
JRE Wi B A K ﬁﬂ JEE Wi 3K Trade and other receivables 16 41,801 40,476
7 HA ] 4R (5] Bl IE Current tax recoverable 22(a) 317 654
Bl 4 K B4 45 (9 4 Cash and cash equivalents 17(a) 132,788 142,423
230,942 235,471
i By 11 4% Current liabilities
AT IE i Bank overdrafts 19 7,049 8,864
JRE A5 R R B EC Al ASF R B Trade and other payables and contract
& I A liabilities 18 36,904 37,579
fl E =K Lease liabilities 20 26,657 39766
A A A IH Current tax payable 22(a) 319 602
18 g Provisions 23 - 9,570
70,929 96,381
i W A Net current assets 160,013 139,090
H9OF R W B A Total assets less current liabilities 537,999 504,281
I B 13 4% Non-current liabilites |
& A fH Lease liabilities 20 29,325 33,990
R SiE B JH A Deferred tax liabilities 22(b) 1,004 1,363
30,329 35,353
Vgt NET ASSETS 507,670 558,928
JBe AR B Akt A CAPITAL AND RESERVES
B A Share capital 24(c) 383,909 383,909
55 Reserves 115,089 154,977
A% 4 ) B 2% B 3R Total equity attributable to equity
R A B i A 78 shareholders of the Company 498,998 538,886
I e JBe HE 2 Non-controlling interests 8,672 20,042
B 22 B8 % TOTAL EQUITY 507,670 558,928
HHERgH E - ENA T IILHEEME R Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 June
e Ao 2022
BiE & %% ) Chan Wing Sun, Samuel )
) )
) HWHE ) Directors
JH Bl ) Chan Suk Ling, Shirley )
) )

FA4E EHEITEZ MGl g AR B EZ —ab -

The notes on pages 44 to 111 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
#EZF Z4F = H = A — H Ik AF E Forthe year ended 31 March 2022
(L oc 1 7R~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

i 8 7
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
Bt it A SNERE  EfERE  REEA BE  FrmRER O EEAE
Share Exchange  Revaluation Retained Non-controlling
Note capital reserve reserve profits Total interests  Total equity
$1000 $1000 $1000 $000 $1000 $1000 $1000
(5E24(c) (k24 (HE5E24(0)(i)
(Note 24(c) ~ (Note 24(d)i)  (Note 24(c)(i)
REZZZENA -0 Balance at 1 April 2020 383,909 (48,501) 13,432 189,255 538,005 19,739 557,834
WS Changes in equity:
AER (EH) /w A (Loss}/profit for the year - - - (11,740) (11,740) 58 (11,682
Hlb A s Other comprehensive income - 12,531 . _ 12,531 289 12813
AEERTRESH Total comprehensive income - 12,531 _ (1,740) 791 340 1,131
EffFEAERERS 2RE  Dvidends paidto
non-controlling interests - - - - - (37) (37)
RZZZ—%ZJ=1—H Balance at31 March 2021
REZFZ-FMA-R and1 April 2021 383,909 (35,970) 13,432 177,515 538,886 20,042 558,928
ERg: Changes in equity:
AEEER/ (EHR) Profit/oss) for the year - - - 3284 3,284 (1,144 2,140
At mig Other comprehensive income . (6,119 - . 6,119 235 15,884)
I ENNIEE L Total comprehensive income - 6,119) . 3284 2,8%) 1909) (3.744)
BHE MM E A T2 Realisation of translation
it reserve upon deregistration
of a subsidiary - (3,881) - _ (3.881) _ (3881)
BEFECHER Dividends approved and
GYope:! paid in respect of
previous year 24(0)(i) - - - (16,586) (16,586) - (16,586)
REFRERR Dividends declared and
E A BB paid in respect of
‘ current year 24(0)() - - - (16,586) (16,586) - (16,586)
MRS 2B Dividends paid to
non-controling interests - - - - _ (10,461) (10,461)
REFZZHEZA =T R Balance at 31 March 2022 383,909 (45,970) 13432 147,627 498,998 8,672 507,670

FAGH B FE I HZ Wil AR B R EKZ — o

The notes on pages 44 to 111 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

#FE —F 4 = ] =1 — H Ik 4 ¥ For the year ended 31 March 2022
(L4 e 5 71~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

W&k 2022 2021
Note $000 $000
REWH Operating activities
BEER R EEZHE Cash (used in)/generated from operations 17(0) (3,828) 28 461
B/ (B ) B Tax refunded/(paid)
— A FEA G ~ Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (290) (795)
— (B /18 [ & s DA Sh 3t e B O - Tax (paid)/refunded outside Hong Kong (280) 315
— B i A ~ Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded 402 211
(169) (269)
BESHHN) / EEZRETH Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (3,996) 28,192
B ¥ Investing activities
[LYNCNIL/ERY R EY IR Payment for the purchase of other property, plant and
equipment (6,441) (1,089)
B E BB Payment for the addition of investment properties (5,699) _
iREia-¢/ES/REE 4 Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 96,886 -
tH EFEEMEZE R HR Proceeds from disposal of trading securities - 1,991
EH MY % B MM TS RIE  Proceeds from disposal of other property, plant and
equipment - 30
2 8 Interest received 087 461
BHEE WA LT H Net cash generated from investing activities 85,033 1395
G ) Financing activities
T 3 AR B A 4 1 A ) Capital element of lease rentals paid 17(0) (43,194) (41,007)
OB &0 A B2 Interest element of lease rentals paid 17() (2,114) (2,815)
FB S H Interest paid (265) (367)
O AR 5 ) 1 T 2 Ik Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the Company (33,172) (233)
£ f5F I 2 M 4 i B Dividends paid to non-controling interests (10,461) (37)
R 0 B T 2 B A Net cash used in financing activities (89,206) (44,549)
B R BA S8 Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (8,169) (14,962)
RENZRERRESHY Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the year 133,559 146,011
A W 2 5E ) 2 08 8 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 349 2510
REXZBAERREZHY Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17(3) 125,739 133,559

FAGH B HZ Wit AR MBS K Z — it e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B 5 45 B 45 4F - ¥ L1t o8 %Y 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 % E ek 8oR

(a)

(b)

1) 2 1]

A BB AR R IR T A B 2 (R
B 5 o L) A B S A LS
s Eh A g AR A 2 BT A 2 A
Wl 8 B 5 o E D)~ R o &
DRI EN R e N R A8 i
B B W0 R ) 2 BURE o AR BB
WMENTEHFEBEHRELHNARA
g R b AT BT AR ) 2
M FTERE - LN EAEEERNZ
Bl  E

e T A G B A TR ET
W B A ME ) s R AR AR
R = G R
R A e WK EH w2 S AR WA
B 2 s S o e T 5| B Al
RN SRR ER B
AR RN A B RS R
B 53 56 1 (c) T o

B % 2 A B
BE_Z - _—H=A=Z+—H M4
BEZ 4R A TS IR R R AN A R H
Wi s m) (B (A2 | ) o

BT SO R A SO IR AL -
o B 2 DR S A A A
BT 91 2

— WEYECR T T R E
By 2 H AR 5 % 5 W
% 0 RE M A N (2 B AR
10 H) 5 K&

— FEER®ZESR (SHHES
(e)H) -

A BT & A o B O R I 2 B RS
ek BEORE G kT R B BUR I
MU R ERE - B Wi kB2 B2
i AR A B~ AN KRG - A B
fiti S e R B M S AR O A AL B 2
TES BE A UL AR A B 2 At 1
RAE - A7 B AR R OR e AR
i R AR R BN 2 B E KRR
T F FF H ) B 2 5 o o BB &5 R T
AESLRZ M A T2 5 -

il B AR I M1 3 T 4% 5 A 2 YE R B
R 2 BRI A A BT T
Z T (A A8 BT R B R o 5]
6 T 399 [H] B oA A€ 30 ] (i 165 5T 5 2B
HIT 0 ) % R A 0 1) ol R

v

—_
=

1 Significant accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant (‘HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting period reflected
in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets are stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting
policies set out below:

- investment properties, including interests in leasehold land
and buildings held as investment properties where the Group
is the registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(f);
and

—  trading securities (see note 1(g)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(B 3 45 Br #5 4F - 2 L1t o0 %1 17~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1

F 2 58O (8)

(b)

(c)

(d)

B 5 A & A IR (A7)
A B B TE T A s B A e
S IRF I A 38 A T B i R A R R
B BT A B A BB R E R R
w1 B A B SR A 2 0

7 il B R 5 )

T GFIT A GO 8mA T &
B it e ) 2 B T MR A 4R 1B
Tt E R - %R
A S5 B T R SR B A AR B R
9 A 393 B AT 409 35 A% % b5 5K D AR
EDN 2 X

A SR B 7 7E BLAT & w0 AR A A
A ¥ 2R A2 280 2 o HE T B R o

Pt g 23 ] & JE i i E a

Wi B8 2 W A S T BT A 2 R
WAL R A 2 B 2 SRR A
7R 38 B A 8 B 2 [l iR A e

T L o RE DA R 2R ) R e A H
AAE B R R E AL E
A S HER I 5 E (RS E
AN A 5 BT R A ) BCEREA o

W 2> W) 45 oh R A 4 o HE B 4 R
PFARR & MBS R A B2
Heab Bk o AR R m R A B
2 oy e B R S BN 2 A
B8 5y B R A 2 AE ] oA A B R
AN TS i S A SV 5 ik 3R IR A T HC B o
1 A R 228 B B R A R B
Bl s 18 1% SR 5 Bk 48 A R 2 J7 X
R8> M BRI oK A Bl 1R 3 A B
A DL o

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group. None of these developments has had a material effect on
how the Group’s results and financial position for the current or
prior periods have been prepared or presented in this financial
report.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
issued by HKICPA that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

Investments in subsidiaries are consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(B 3 45 B 45 4F - # L1 o0 %Y 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 %65 BOR (8
(d) i 25 7 F R A 25 (A)

(e)

52 e M 2 15 IR AR A T R B 4
JE A 2 BA Jag 2> W) BEHE - T AR 4R
o B B HE 4R AN T R AT AT R
ek > A A 42 1 BE R % 4 BE A
ARG EMAMERZ SRR -
A A SE A R E o A AR Ak
$ oy FoE BE 5 BHE 2 A BT
Gt N ¥k - Pa: AN 0]
I 5 e HE 4 -

I P B HE 25 AE AR o B IR UL R 2 fE
fi B Ao BLAR % R BBCME FR AN
i HE i 2 BH 2 51 o I 5 A HE AR T A
ALEER ML R R R
B e 1R A SOH A 4 T U 4 R 2
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

(e)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented on
the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with notes 1(n) or (0) depending on the nature of the
liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions,
whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and
non-controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(g)) or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment
in an associate.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses (see note
1))

Other investments

The Group’s policies for investments, other than investments in
subsidiaries, are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(B 3 45 Br 5 4F - 2 L1t o0 %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Other investments (continued)

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investments. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL”) for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group
determines fair value of financial instruments, see note 25(f)(i).
These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification:

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one
of the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment
is calculated using the effective interest method (see note

1(HV).

—  Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)
(recycling), if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of contractual cash flows
and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition in profit
or loss of expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign exchange
gains and losses. When the investment is derecognised, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

—  FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes
in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(j)) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still
in the course of construction or development at the end of the
reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured
at that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value
or from the retirement or disposal of an investment property is
recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is accounted for as described in note 1(t)(iii).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B 5 45 B 35 4F - ¥ L1l o8 %Y 717 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g

Other property, plant and equipment

The following items of property held for own use, plant and
equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 1j)(ii):

— interests in leasehold land and buildings where the Group is
the registered owner of the property interest (see note 1(j));

—  right-of-use assets arising from leases over freehold or
leasehold properties where the Group is not the registered
owner of the property interest (see note 1(j); and

— items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets
arising from leases of underlying plant and equipment (see
note 1(i)).

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has changed, any difference between the carrying amount and
the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained
profits.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any,
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

—  Leasehold land is depreciated over the unexpired term of
the lease.

—  The Group’s interests in buildings situated on leasehold land
are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of
the lease and their estimated useful lives, being no more
than 50 years after the date of completion.

—  Plant and machinery 10 years

—  Leasehold improvements, motor vehicles

and furniture and equipment 2 to 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value,
if any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of
retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is
transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is
not reclassified to profit or loss.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Intangible assets

@)

Trademark acquired and lease premium paid by the Group with
an indefinite estimated useful life are stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 1(j)(ii). Expenditure on internally generated brands
is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives are
assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life of an
intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to support the
indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change and in
accordance with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets
with finite lives.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i) Asalessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

U

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, and
any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost
of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see notes 1(g) and 1(j)(ii), except for the right-of-use assets
that meet the definition of investment property are carried
at fair value in accordance with note 1(f).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease.
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are rent concessions that occured as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and met
the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16
Leases. In such cases, the Group has taken advantage of
the practical expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and recognised the
change in consideration as negative variable lease payments
in profit or loss in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i) Asalessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this
is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. The
rental income from operating leases is recognised in

accordance with note 1(t)(iii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption described in note 1(j)(i), then
the Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

() Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)  Creditlosses from financial instruments and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected

credit losses (“ECLs”) on the following items:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents and trade and other

receivables); and

—  lease receivables.

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject to

the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B 5 45 B 35 4F - ¥ L1l o8 %Y 717 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof;

—  variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest
rate;

—  leasereceivables: discount rate used in the measurement
of the lease receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to
result from all possible default events over the expected
lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

M

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group
in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset is
90 days past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest on their
contractually due date;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating
(if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet
its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk
ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(j)  Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease receivables
(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 1(t)(v)
is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-
impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the asset becomes 365 days past due or
when the Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit
or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets (other than properties carried at revalued
amounts);

—  pre-paid interests in leasehold land classified as being
held under an operating lease;

- intangible assets;
—  lease premium; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement
of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for intangible assets and lease
premium that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

—  Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

G

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)
— Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.

Areversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

(iiy  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(see note 1())).

(k) Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary course
of business, in the process of production for such sale or in the
form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production
process.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost s calculated using the first-in, first-out formula and comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense
in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

o

(m)

(n)

(0)

(»)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see note 1(t)). A contract liability would also be recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised (see note 1(m)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing component and
other receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs. All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method and including allowance for
credit losses (see note 1())(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expense is recognised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note

1(v).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1())(i).
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(q)

(r)

Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(i)~ Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits
and when it recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable
in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising
from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are
taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exception to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences relating to investments
in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences,
the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or
in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that
they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(f), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is depreciable and
is held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount
of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Income tax (continued)

(s)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— inthe case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company
or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a separate asset
is recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement
is limited to the carrying amount of the provision.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

®

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from
the sale of goods, the provision of printing and related services,
the licensing or the use by others of the Group’s assets under
leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the
asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added
tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)  Sale of goods

Revenue arising from the sale of garments and printing
products is recognised when goods are delivered to the
customers’ premises or picked up by customers for
domestic sales and when goods are shipped on board for
export sales which is taken to be the point in time when the
customer takes possession and accepted the goods.

(i) Royalty income

Royalty income is recognised on an accrual basis in
accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements.

(i)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease
incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are earned.

(iv) Dividends

— Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

—  Dividend income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investment goes ex-
dividend.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)
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(v) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method using the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset.

(v  Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of
financial position initially when there is reasonable assurance
that they will be received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that compensate
the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate
the Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and consequently are effectively
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset
by way of reduced depreciation expense.

(u) Translation of foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the Group initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in
the exchange reserve.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(u)

)

w)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is
suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Related parties

(1) Aperson, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.
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1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(w) Related parties (continued)

(x)

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)() has significant influence over

the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
10, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines
of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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2 Accounting judgements and estimates

Notes 11(b) and 25 contain information about the assumptions and
their risk factors relating to valuation of investment properties and
financial instruments. Other significant sources of estimation
uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Impairment of other property, plant and equipment and intangible

assets

The Group assesses whether these non-current assets may be
impaired in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note

10)(i).

The recoverable amounts of these non-current assets have been
determined based on the greater of value-in-use and fair value
less costs of disposal. These calculations require the use of
judgement and estimates, in particular of future revenue, future
profit margin and terminal growth rate. Due to inherent risk
associated with the estimations, the estimated recoverable
amount of the assets may be different from its actual recoverable
amount and the Group’s profit or loss could be affected by the
accuracy of the estimations.

(b) Write-down of inventories

The Group performs regular reviews of the carrying amounts of
inventories with reference to aged inventories analyses, projections
of expected future saleability of goods and management
experience and judgement. Based on this review, a write down
of inventories will be made when the estimated net realisable value
decline below their carrying amounts of inventories. Due to
changes in customers’ preferences and actual saleability of goods
may be different from estimation, profit or loss in future accounting
periods could be affected by differences in this estimation.

(¢) Impairment of trade debtors

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
debtors. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The
provision matrix is based on management’s estimate of the lifetime
expected credit losses to be incurred, which is estimated by taking
into account the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade
debtors, customers’ repayment history and customers’ financial
position and an assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions, all of which involve a significant
degree of management judgment.
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3 Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are garment wholesaling and
retailing, trademark ownership and licensing, property investment and
provision of security printing, general business printing and trading of
printing products.

(i)  Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
significant category of revenue is as follows:

2022 2021
$000 $000
V8 WE %5 W5 ME W) 481598 % Bl Revenue from contracts with customers
HME %P A HBA within the scope of HKFRS 15
8 AR Sales of garments 158,844 160,402
BRI B B AH B U g Royalty and related income 18,518 17,820
EIV R B AH BA I 75 0 4 Income from printing and related services 28,689 30,403
206,051 208,625
L JERN R Y PN Revenue from other sources
BG4 A Gross rentals from investment properties
—HEMNZEEEHIKERE - lease payments that are fixed or depend
W R R on an index or a rate 5,438 7,556
211,489 216,181

W AKH I 53 J8 i A R M T T
35 B 5 0 BT SR 5 A(0) JH -

AEBEZEFREZ 0L REE
TR FE R F D —FE = A
=t —HIEFE WM EF W
Lo B AERRARN 42—

F R S AR R LE
R PRI WO Tl R

A 4E ] OB AN U R IR HE R G
155855121 BE M nl AT RE B 3k » (R »
S ) TE I BR A — 4R kB
A Il DL B g AR S B
RBEHHXEHFWER > A aEA R
TR R K FH MG -

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
geographical location is disclosed in note 4(c).

The Group’s customer base is diversified and no individual
customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the
Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121
of HKFRS 15 and therefore the information about the remaining
performance obligation is not disclosed for contracts that have
an original expected duration of one year or less and also for
those performance obligations which are regarded as satisfied
as invoiced.
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4 5
(a) HEBHEFE BEXKALME

4 Segment reporting

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities

67
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The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with the way
in which information is reported internally to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented
the following four reportable segments. No operating segments
have been aggregated to form the following reportable segments.

—  Sales of garments: wholesaling and retailing of garments.

—  Licensing of trademarks: management and licensing of
trademarks for royalty income.

—  Printing and related services: provision of security printing
and sale of printed products.

—  Property rental: leasing of properties to generate rental
income.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and current
assets with the exception of deferred tax assets, trading securities,
current tax recoverable, cash and cash equivalents and other
corporate assets. Segment liabilities include trade and other
payables and contract liabilities, lease liabilities and bank
overdrafts with the exception of current tax payable, deferred tax
liabilities and other corporate liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to sales generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise
from the depreciation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit or loss is “adjusted
EBITDA”, i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and impairment loss on non-current assets before
intra-group elimination”, where “interest” includes investment
income. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s earnings/losses
are further adjusted for items not specifically attributed to individual
segments, such as other head office or corporate administration
costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning adjusted
EBITDA, management is provided with segment information
concerning revenue (including inter-segment sales), interest
income and expenses from cash balances and borrowings
managed directly by the segments, depreciation and impairment
losses and additions to non-current segment assets used by the
segments in their operations. Inter-segment sales are priced with
reference to prices charged to external parties for similar orders.
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4 5w (E) 4 Segment reporting (continued)
(a) SFEBEH - &EK AW (H) (a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
BRE_F - _F_—-F=H Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as
=+ —HIEEE AMEHKS BT provided to the Group’s most senior executive management for
BN B A A B A 4 B 2@ 3 the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
BB (DAE A A7 B IR A L M o R R performance for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 is set
BLEEAL) - SER R out below:

KAMREFZRA
Revenue from external customers
A EIA

Inter-segment revenue

CES Vi 1IN

Reportable segment revenue

HERABZOER) /%A
(BRI B3 90
05 0 AP 6 )

Reportable segment (loss)/profit
(adjusted EBITDA)

FBHA

Interest income

FE

Interest expense

AEFZH#

Depreciation for the year

LRI E N T pa A
i

Impairment loss on other property,
plant and equipment

B ol g

Gain on lease modifications

VES P48 343

Reportable segment assets

KEEREFRBAIBERE

Additions to non-current segment
assets during the year

VES P8 § 1

Reportable segment liabilities

160,402 216,181

6,962

160,402 223,133

40,467

54 62

(1,752) (2.901)

(28,687) (30,503)

(4,513)

447,003 141,126 278,327 880,743

23,992 28 25,506

427,319 15,065 15,037 463,360
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4 5 WE ) 4 Segment reporting (continued)
b) HEHRPIHUA- B BERA (b) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets
15 = H AR and liabilities
2022 2021
$°000 $°000
WA Revenue
ZH 2R EB kA Reportable segment revenue 216,158 223,133
a3 M 2 Jh S Elimination of inter-segment revenue (4,669) (6,952)
SEAEWA Consolidated revenue 211,489 216,181
A Profit
2O R R 5 Reportable segment profit 5,575 40,467
3 P 1] 6 ) 2 4 Elimination of inter-segment profits (1,316) (5,007)
LB LNEF R E 2 Reportable segment profit derived from the
75 TR 4 Group's external customers 4,259 35,370
oAty 5 13 A Other net gain 4,239 191
i Depreciation (33,751) (35,279
HibE - WF Lz Impairment loss on other property, plant and
RIEN, Ei equipment = 4,513)
& 18 ook 45 Gain on lease modifications 1,910 _
B A W 3 i 4 1 AR Net gain on disposal of investment properties 13,336 -
Erd-L/E INEEN I E TR Net valuation gains on investment properties 6,405 3,178
R B (R R) Reversal of provision/(provision) for claims 5,478 (9,570)
Bl A Finance costs (2,379) (3,182)
Ry e 2 A W) BoAR 2B 4 Unallocated head office and corporate income 2,476 6,841
B B A A5 B W s (s 1) Consolidated profit/(loss) before taxation 1,973 (6,964)
953 Assets
EEH G E Reportable segment assets 852,759 880,743
G5 [ B K 2 B Elimination of inter-segment receivables (400,461) (360,594)
452,298 520,149
R J0E B IH Deferred tax assets 281 243
FHERBZ#&H Trading securities 17,119 16,475
A3 ] 4R [1] B IH Current tax recoverable 317 654
RekR&%EY Cash and cash equivalents 132,788 142,423
KO 2 BN R Unallocated head office and corporate assets 6,125 10,718
GAMERE Consolidated total assets 608,928 690,662
fifE Liabilities
JH R s Reportable segment liabilities 487,703 463,360
3 T8 1) B ASF K 2 A Elimination of inter-segment payables (400,461) (360,594)
87,242 102,766
7R 9 JRE ARF i 45 Current tax payable 319 602
iR HE B IH B & Deferred tax liabilities 1,004 1363
R TE 2 KA ) BA 3 AR Unallocated head office and corporate liabilities 12,693 27,003
hi LB Consolidated total liabilities 101,258 131,734
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4 Segment reporting (continued)

(¢) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers and
(i) the Group’s investment properties, other property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets (“specified non-current assets”).
The geographical location of customers is based on the location
at which the services were provided or the goods delivered. The
geographical location of the specified non-current assets is based
on the physical location of the assets, in the case of other property,
plant and equipment, and the location to which they are managed,
in the case of intangible assets.

KA REFPBRA e Ik R W) % A
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
2022 2021 2022 2021
$°000 $°000 $°000 $000
A it (R i) Hong Kong (place of domicile) 103,083 115,314 55,534 149,260
f Taiwan 5,799 13,489 982 2,400
FF ] A b Mainland China 79,338 64,665 27,833 11,783
e B The United Kingdom 4,912 4,893 186,806 181,474
H At Others 18,357 17,820 102,135 102,081
108,406 100,867 317,756 297,738
211,489 216,181 373,290 446,998
5 Hfib W 2% O B 5 Other net gain
2022 2021
$°000 $000
D4 & R AS A HE 2 W% % E FI . Interest income on financial assets measured
PN at amortised cost 287 461
[ 50, 0z 45 15+ 28 Net exchange gain 1,175 9,054
MR AR E S F4 Net gain on disposal of trading securities - 36
FEEMBEZERMNS MBI  Change in fair value of trading securities
il s 34 22
W H B 2 Bk KR A E Loss on disposal of other property, plant and
Z R equipment (11) (325)
Rl NGRS Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries 3,928 -
LR Al 5 (B 5F) Government subsidies (note) = 15,033
HAth Others 1,904 2,181
7,317 26,462
fifsE s #E & - —4FE = =+ —HILFE A4 Note: During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group was granted $13,200,000 from

9] 7 ol 4 AT B I B (T BUR D) &% 57 19 0
Pk 4 I Bk 3 08 FI# H 3013,200,000 G
FHOS A2 W 301 R R B T A R
fH BT TG oAb - A% 56 R AE 4 26 4l il
1] o M BURT A 1,400,000 T e

the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund set up by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“the Government”)
for not to make redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding
on paying wages to its employees. In addition, $1,400,000 from Retail Sector Subsidy
Scheme was also granted to the Group by the Government.
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6 BRBiwid O #H) 6 Profit/(loss) before taxation
BrEBEET I 25 (R BBk (FEA) ¢+ Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
2022 2021
$°000 $000
@ A& A (@  Finance costs
SRAT I SR B Interest expense on bank overdrafts 265 367
& B S (MEEH170)H) Interest on lease liabilities (note 17(c)) 2114 2815
2,379 3,182
b) B LA~ (o)  Staff costs*
FE A FOR PR F1 B Contributions to defined contribution
Z MK retirement plans 5,778 5706
Bl L& RHAMAREF Salaries, wages and other benefits 77,91 82,000
83,689 87,928
© HiwEH ) Otheritems
BE Auditors’ remuneration
— % BB - audit services 2,574 2198
— BB B - tax services 206 92
— H At R B - other services 87 199
2,867 2,412
A (S 11(0) ) Depreciation charge* (note 11(a))
— AW BB Kk - owned property, plant and equipment 2,894 2275
— I E - right-of-use assets 30,857 33,004
H b4 -~ B Lk 2 W ke 1R Impairment loss on other property, plant and
(Bt 5 55 11(0) TH) equipment (note 11(a))
— I E E - right-of-use assets - 4513
T 18 ol 45 Gain on lease modifications (1,910) _
JRE AR 2 k(e (R 565 26 (a) ) Impairment loss on trade debtors (note 25(a)) 2,727 3,733
JRE WA R 2 (T 4 e 4 Reversal of impairment loss on trade
(B ¥ 57 25(a) HH) debtors (note 25(a)) (8,683) (1,445)
BOE W) 3 T A el B A Rentals receivable from investment
% 4,012,000 7T properties less direct outgoings of
(=% ——4 :372,0007C) $4,012,000 (2021: $372,000) (1,426) (7,184)
17 8 R AR (B 55 55 15(0) TH) Cost of inventories* (note 15(0)) 73,009 79,631
RGBS B (B T 42) (Reversal of provision)/provision for claims (5,478) 9,570
CTHERAUTEE B TRA LI ESR AR * Cost of inventories includes $10,288,000 (2021: $11,127,000) relating to staff costs
10,288,000 7 ( & — —4F : 11,127,000 7C) - A B and depreciation, which amount is also included in the respective total amounts disclosed
BTN O A b R B R AR 6(b) 4 Hll B R 2 4% separately above or in note 6(b) for each of these types of expenses.

SR R o

4F # 2021/22 Annual Report



7T HAHBRRINZ AR 7

(a)

& a W R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B 5 45 B 35 4F - # L1l o8 %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss

TR AR HW NGB B
i A% AF B Al T ORE SR B i A D 16.5%
(B —4F 1 16.5%) 7T 5& -

A LLAE R RS 2 w2 ol T B LA
AR B B 5 2 BLAT B AR o

N $%I§IT%I¥?%A¥$E$
F519% (& —— 4 1 19%)

AR B i RS AR 4R T AR P I A B S
B E BRI 25% (% ——
4 25%)

e R ILAE (TR ) Bk T >
Ah B R A R B b A
10% TEFNBL » SR 10 - ZH 00 10% T8 411
BiR e > ERERA FFNF—
A — B R B g R B B e A
rf B B A [ % A T AR R R RE IR
] 5T A B 05 8 2 0 > B AT 5 A
T 0B R GBE - MR HE P B A 2
M0y 8 B BB PR AN 4 I JE A
48 [ 1 o I B R AN WD B S A Y AT il
B 5 4% 5% 1) TE A0 B R A TR A0 B -

BHEBRBEINZ IS : (a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:
2022 2021
$°000 $°000
AW BEIE — & WA 1 Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
A LB Provision for the year 383 531
DA 4F 15 o 7 458 Over-provision in respect of prior years (155) (327)
228 204
AR B — 7 DA A IR Current tax - Outside Hong Kong
7 A B 1 Provision for the year - 309
DAAE AR BN 2 A Under-provision in respect of prior years _ 71
- 380
B #E B8 Deferred tax
AR R (] R IR AL Origination and reversal of temporary differences (395) 4,134
(167) 4718

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2022 is calculated
at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for
the year.

Taxation for subsidiaries based outside Hong Kong is charged
at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant
jurisdictions.

The corporate tax rate applicable to the Group’s operations in
the United Kingdom is 19% (2021: 19%) for the year.

The Corporate Income Tax rate applicable to the Group’s
operations in Mainland China is 25% (2021: 25%) for the year.

Under the tax law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), a
10% withholding tax shall be levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the Group’s PRC subsidiaries, however,
only the dividends attributable to the profits of the financial period
starting from 1 January 2008 will be subject to withholding tax.
A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
arrangement between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investor. Pursuant to a double tax arrangement between the PRC
and Hong Kong, the Group is subject to a withholding tax at a
rate of 5% for any dividend payments from its PRC subsidiaries.

4F # 2021/22 Annual Report

72



A W%k M EE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B 3 45 Br 5 4b - 2 L1t o0 %1 v~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

7 BEASBEBEFEMMWZHSB (8) 7 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
pl’Ofit or loss (continued)

b) i (G ZHRmEaHaiks (b) Reconciliation between tax (credit)/expense and accounting profit/
(5 18) #8 JH Bt F Gt 85 2 #HE - (loss) at applicable tax rates:
2022 2021
$°000 $000
W B T 35 R Uk 4R Profit/(loss) before taxation 1,973 (6,964)

iz U8 A A B B A 2 WA Notional tax on profit/(loss) before taxation,
BORFTABRBATG A B E) calculated at the rates applicable in the

24 FEBA countries concerned 1,689 (1,830)
ST 1A B S 2 Bl B B Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 3,203 3278
TR B A 2 Bl IE 3 2 Tax effect of non-taxable income (4,081) (4,952)
KRR 2 R B FIBLE B B A0 E B Tax effect of unused tax losses and other

P B2 BIH & temporary differences not recognised 2,006 4,658
DARTAFBE R HERR 2 KRB A BLIE  Taxeffect of unused tax losses and other

Js 5 R BT IRV 25 L i R 4R R temporary differences not recognised in prior

B 2 Bl 2 year but utilised during the year (2,819) (467)

bR e C M S h BB 18 Derecognition of deferred tax arising from tax
P A A 2 B IEBLIE f2 W25 B losses and other temporary differences

previously recognised - 4,287
DL AR B 2 3 ) 3 1 Over-provision in respect of prior years (165) (256)
HHRE GHA) B X Actual tax (credit)/expense (167) 4,718
8 WHH M4 8 Directors’ emoluments
ARIE T s (N RGN 55 383(1) M6 L Ca w] (% Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
5 3 5 M) a5 EORH) KA 5 28 2 B e T B Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
B EEMEWMT (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are
as follows:
WA HEWG K Bkl
LR E %
Salaries, [ N Retirement
W4 allowances and  Discretionary scheme #a5tk
Directors’ fees  benefits in kind bonuses contributions Total

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
$000 $000 $000 $'000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000  $'000

H#HA7#F  Executive directors

Bk 5 Chan Wing Sun, Samuel 40 40 | 1,122 1,047 = 64 - - 1,162 1,151

JABRF:  Chan Suk Ling, Shirley 40 40 | 1,409 1,409 = 80 = - 1,449 1529

R & Fu Sing Yam, William 40 40 | 1,812 1,677 - 92 90 90 | 1,942 1,899

B3 28 Chan Andrew 40 40 480 909 = 57 25 58 545 1,064

i 7k 28 Chan Wing Fui, Peter 40 40 - - - - - - 40 40

B K HE Chan Wing Kee 40 40 - - - - - _ 40 40

3k JE# A7 Independent non-executive

#HH directors

FRIEH Choi Ting Ki 130 130 - - - - - - 130 130

RV So Stephen Hon Cheung 130 130 - _ - _ - _ 130 130

W] Li Guangming 130 130 - - - - - - 130 130
630 630 4,823 5042 - 203 115 148 | 5568 6,113
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(B 5 45 B 35 4F - # L1l o8 %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

o AL

TG G R 2 Ak S (%
T E D) B T A R
M EHeH . ME % = A
St R Al A 2 e T

9 Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2021: four)
are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The
emoluments of the other individual for the year ended 31 March 2022
are as follows:

2022 2021
$°000 $'000
Wi B F At T Salaries and other emoluments 2,571 1,669
9 7€ AE AL Discretionary bonuses 208 308
FER N i IR Retirement scheme contributions 18 _
2,817 1,977
kA AN H) 10 Earnings/(loss) per share
(a) FFERIEREF(EH) (a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share

(b)

TR AR Ol ) 2k AR
R 2 A oy v HE g BB ORRE AG i A

3,284,000 G ( — & — — 4 i B
11,740,000 70 ) & B % 17 % 78 i % 3
165,864,000 i ( — & — — 4

165,864,000 JIX) 7+ & -

I R ()
WEF - ER % AR
= b BRGSO R
7884 2 0 06 0 IR ¢ W
WA LR O 50) A
#/ (B 480 M -

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on the
profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company
of $3,284,000 (2021: loss of $11,740,000) and 165,864,000
(2021: 165,864,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

There were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. Accordingly, the diluted
earnings/(loss) per share is the same as the basic earnings/(loss)
per share.
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11 ¥ ERILMBYE - BE

11 Investment properties and other property, plant

B w5 and equipment
(a) HEH1E 2 #HHR (a) Reconciliation of carrying amount
#EAHZ SR ARy
ER 2 S H 4% .3 SR
BiAi B (f A HIIR) 3V TE
Ownership Other Leasehold
interests in properties W%  improvements,
landand leased for own #% motor vehicles, B¥%mE

buildings held  usecarriedat ~ Plantand  furniture and At Investment it

for own use cost  machinery equipment  Sub-total  properties Total

$°000 $'000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

B Al 1 Cost or valuation:

A EZFEWA A At 1 Apil 2020 31,653 147,128 20061 56054 254896 243112 498,008
HE 5 o Exchange adjusiments - 12308 - 672 1980 18734 20714
WE-HEET Adjustments - lease modifications - 166 - - 166 - 166
A Addtions - 22,085 1,465 1055 25505 - 5505
h Disposals - (19,460) 85) (16577 (36,122) - (3122
P NEEL Fair value adjustment - - - - - 3178 3178

~HZAST-R A2 ST B3 LI T N 1T

R%: Representing:
LA ) Cost 31,653 162,127 21,441 41,204 246,425 - 246,425
fifi-—%F -4 Valuation - 2021 - - - - - 265,024 265,024
31,653 162,127 21,441 41,204 246,425 265,024 511,449

e 2LV ALT Aprl 2021 31,663 152127 21441 41204 246425 265024 511,449
HE 3t 8 Exchange adjustments - 1,071 4 18 1,193 6,772 (5,579)
W -HEET Adjustments - lease modifications - 11,19 - - 11,196 - 11196
A Addions - 20,082 - 6,441 26,523 5,699 32,22
b Disposals - (57,340) - (1,634  (58974)  (83550)  (142,524)
ARERE Fair value adjustment - - - - - 6,405 6,405

REBZZEZAZHA  ASNoch 222 S LB 25 619 26360 1800 413169
R Representing:

A Cost 31,658 127,136 21,445 46,129 226,363 - 226,363
R S Valuation - 2022 _ _ _ _ _ 186,806 186,806

31,653 127,136 21,445 46,129 226,363 186,806 413,169
R Lﬂﬁ% Accumulated depreciation:

“E-FENA-H At 1 April 2020 24,439 100,414 16,899 50,592 192,344 - 192,344
E L Exchange adjustments - 791 _ 73 1522 _ 1522
AL BB Charge for the year 526 31,259 1,175 2319 35219 - 329
HEER Impairment loss - 4513 - - 4513 _ 4513
e R Written back on disposals _ (19,460) (85) (16,220) (35,765) _ (35,765)

“HEZAZFH A3t March 2021 24,965 117,517 17,989 3742 197,893 - 197893

AZEZ-EMA-A At 1 April 2021 24,965 17,517 17,989 37422 197,893 - 197,89
T 5. 74 %% Exchange adjustments - 599 4 7 640 - 640
AAEE A Charge for the year 282 29,360 1,124 2,985 33,751 - 33,751
1 IR 4 Written back on disposals - (57,340) - (1,629 (58,969) - (58,969)

REFZZEZAZ4-H A3 Mach 2022 25,047 90,136 19,117 /A 173321 - 173321
1 ¥ 4 Net book value:

REFZZHEZAZ+—H At31March 2022 6,406 37,000 2,328 7,308 53,042 186,806 239,848

CEZ-EZRZ4—H At31 March 2021 6,688 34,610 3,452 3,782 48,532 265,024 313,556
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11 BeEWERELYE - WG
Bk 6 (m)

(a) R85 2 IR (4)

98 (6L s 1R

BE-F " HHA=1+—HILFEEF -
B B IR G WA
&t BOR 3 AR £ B E B E 2
HAYZE ~ RS B s AT W R A o
PR REAG > M B b4 2 B &
B AHEBREE T (CE " —
4 0 4,513,00078) - WA 45 A R 3 &
AW o HoAh ¥ 3 - W5 K 3% A ar
W le] 4 BE T AR PR A B R E R A
B2 P R AT R A R AR R AR
B A 0 Al R R Ak B 4 U OE
FE T

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

Impairment loss

During the year ended 31 March 2022, management performed
an impairment assessment on certain property, plant and
equipment of the Group’s retail stores in accordance with the
accounting policy on impairment of non-current assets. Based
on the assessment, an impairment loss of $Nil (2021: $4,513,000)
was recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31 March
2022. The recoverable amounts of these other property, plant
and equipment were determined based on the estimated future
cash flows generated from these retail stores for the remaining
non-cancellable lease term of the respective retail stores at a
discount rate as follows:

2021
A IR Hong Kong and Macau 13.00%
B A Mainland China N/A
#’EY A IZE L AR E (b) Fair value measurement of investment properties
() 2~ RAEZRHE ()  Fair value hierarchy
TREJALEBREYWEZL The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
H > ZFEREYERRE ] investment properties measured at the end of the reporting

RAZ R RS R M
o e i T R A YE I BB 9R M4
FAHFHE PR E 2 A SUE
B o A S E EH B B S
QR U T -
iy A BOHE 2 RS B A
e

— - RRAG(E BN
i A BB (B R [R] 8
B IS BT R KE
BEEFREZANE

= ERANE A
AN BUHE (RD R B 22 21 28 — )
Z Bl A B R A
{1 R AN AT B BBR) R
BZNSE - AT B R
T A5 ML AR S EOR
Ligi 4

— ARG E B E KR
BIERME R A nHE

period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1inputsi.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available

—  Level 3valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs
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11 eEHEREMLHE WG
Bk 6 (m)

(b) BEY LA R A2 (F)
i) a2 (D)

11 Investment properties and other property, plant

and equipment (continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (continued)

U

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

AW i
Fair value
2022 2021
= Level 3 $000 $'000
WREEEEGT EHZ2 ARM  Recurring fair value measurement |
T — &k Industrial - Hong Kong | - 83,550
P — B Commercial — The United Kingdom ! 186,806 181,474
! 186,806 265,024

B F R
FEA S — H AL R
— B 2 N R
LA S B 5 e A
S5 AL ) R A2 1 7 S 40 4
7 024 T /A A 22 2 D
W -

AEEFALEY ER
SRR —F
= BOE AN E o A
o7 B B B B BT B S BR IR R A
AR FEAT . A F R
ThEBNEMEGERE R
H A i B U Al 4y 36 b B e
SRR B A A B o A OBERE C &
SEL L) B R e R R 0 OR
il (A 3¢ A 45 2R

A B = o R B R

H

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting period in which they occur.

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued as at
31 March 2022 and 2021. The valuations were carried out
by an independent firm of surveyors, Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited (“Ravia”), who have among their staff
Fellows of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent
experience in the location and category of properties being
valued. The management have discussion with the surveyors
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuations were performed at the end of the reporting period.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

A ) Bl %
A5 4 $% i L VN € 3
Valuation Unobservable i
techniques inputs Range
T.% — ##  Industrial - Hong Kong T 35 Al % LE - N/A
Market comparison (k) /s (2021: (15)%
approach  (Discount)/premium to 10%)
on quality of
the properties
W2 — 3B Commercial 7 35 LA 8 Tk WEEE 5% to 20%
— The United Kingdom Market comparison 18 (Y7 7%) (2021: (2)%
approach  Premium/(discount) t0 17.5%)
on quality of

ATl LB B
O S AE TS 2 %5 A B i 1 AT A B
R B MO 1R BT G (E
(L % HE T 78

the properties

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong
and the United Kingdom are determined on an open market
value basis, by making reference to the comparable sale
transactions evidence in the relevant locality.
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11 BeEWERELYE - WG
Bk 6 (m)

(b) BEY LA A A2 (F)

B = N R E R R E R
(%)

A T 55 H 3 o R
eSS T
GBS RO LLBE « T R
LS 2 B R
o8 S

BEYEN R REAERES
iCEESEie </ ESLNELIE VA 7
1) FEIH TR ARK-

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (continued)

(i) Information about Level 3 fair value measurement (continued)

The premium or discount used in market comparison
approach is specific to the building compared to the recent
sale transactions. Higher premium for higher quality buildings
will result in a higher fair value measurement.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised
in the line item “Net valuation gains on investment properties”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(c) f1EHHE & E (¢) Right-of-use assets
e A0 B G ORI B Ay 2 R R The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
R E AT - class of underlying asset is as follows:
B 5T 2022 2021
Note $’000 $'000
HefE B 2 L BMF A Ownership interests in leasehold land and
TEHE £ 30 97 88 LA T B buildings held for own use, carried at
BTHEMAF4HEEHR 1+ depreciated cost, with remaining lease term
EZR between 10 and 50 years (i 6,406 6,688
HAtt g M EWE > #%Ir#  Other properties leased for own use, carried at
AT iR depreciated cost (i 37,000 34610
ik S Mt s f T AT Plant and machinery, carried at depreciated
Bl cost (i 1,964 2,954
B R 34 AT A Furniture and equipment, carried at
iR depreciated cost (i) 169 394
45,539 44,646
HHEARZHEREWE  Ownership interests in leasehold investment
AR R FHE  properties, carried at fair value, with
Mk remaining lease term of: (iv)
— R LA - 50 years or more 186,806 181,474
- TEELTEZA - between 10 and 50 years - 83,550
186,806 265,024
232,345 309,670
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11 BEWERLMLYE - W 11 Investment properties and other property, plant

B kg () and equipment (continued)
(c) 1€ HEEE (4) (c) Right-of-use assets (continued)
AR 45 3 R 2 FH R BE 2 B S I The analysis of expense items or (reduction of expenses) in
H sk (Fid B 320 2 AT T - relation to leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows:
2022 2021
$000 $000
i FAREE 85 LI E 0 8 - Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying asset:
FrfEA A2 Lo g Ownership interests in leasehold land and
JiT A7 REAE £ buildings 282 526
Hih g HHEEYZE Other properties leased for own use 29,360 31,259
R B H A Plant and machinery 990 994
15 ARL B 5% A Furniture and equipment 295 205
30,857 33,004
TS &EAE (45 6(@)IH)  Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) 2114 2,815
B A8 WOl 7 Gain on lease modification (1,910) _
B4 397 A1 B Ho A F 2 8 84 FL Expense relating to short-term leases and
e - FE - —HF=H=+—  otherleases with remaining lease term
H B DL AT fE i e AL E MBI ending on or before 31 March 2021
B =2 727 861
Al S A O (R E R ML Variable lease payments not included in the
HE M FHE) measurement of lease liabilities 8,515 9,049
Y # COVID-19M B fH 4 & 3. COVID-19-related rent concessions received (3,948) (15,720)
BWEFHFEZA=+—HILEE During the year ended 31 March 2022, additions to right-of-use
fili I HE ¥ 2 19 i 20,082,000 7C ( — & assets were $20,082,000 (2021: $24,416,000). This amount
T —4F 124,416,000 70) © % 4 #H E primarily related to the capitalised lease payments payable under
B2 B AR R K o R A B W R R A Y new and renewed tenancy agreements.
B ARAL A & AT A B
HEMHE SRS AELHE AN Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis
WA S B EE A 4 B R B R of lease liabilities are set out in notes 17(d) and 20 respectively.
17(d) % 207H -
() A M2 & % 8T A R ()  Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held for

79

HE 2

SR TR Ry AR R P TE
WFr A — 8 T T D
EINHIE SR I RS
HE 2 (F 45 2 50 2 0 A BE 20 5
AR B H TR ) B R A A o
0] 2 Al 5 A A N ACA B
HEHE 4R 2 ARIH B K SAT > By
A7 R T M 4 22 RS (E R
SCAT Y ST SN > Sz M AT AT AR
LB &[] 75 2 A ST A 2 3 e
A B BORF B 4 2 Bl Al (E 55
{14 3 TE AT T B e ] ok

own use

The Group holds an industrial building in Hong Kong for its
printing business, where its manufacturing facilities are
primarily located. The Group is the registered owner of the
property interests, including the whole or part of undivided
share in the underlying land. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire the property interests from their
previous registered owners, and there are no ongoing
payments to be made under the terms of the land lease,
other than payments based on rateable values set by the
relevant government authority. These payments vary from
time to time and are payable to the relevant government
authority.
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11 BeEWERELYE - WG
Bk 6 (m)

(c) 581 #E & 5 (47)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

HoAtr B R E Y

AR O AR e ol S
JH At Wy S AR i L R
W = BRER] o LB — B
B F:l R SR

BE_F__HFR_-F_—F
A=+ HI-FE A4%EH
MEZMZEENE & EE
R4 2 8 0 O R AR 2 8 B X
TE IR AR AR B B AT B K
2 n s A0 AT KR K e W% HF AT
GO A S [ T A I A v
R R M R P R s B
WH-BE_FZ R F
A= T HIEFEERN
He 7 B B A AT AL A8 HE R A
i T S I O R O B |
COVID-19 {4 #% - 7 4 [ L §r 41
[ 7 AT 3 A T X A A 4 B o
BWEFZ - FR_F A
A=+ -HILFE EER%
FF T SRR [ RN AT A R B AT K
SRR

11 Investment properties and other property, plant

and equipment (continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets (continued)

(i)

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties as
its retail stores and offices through tenancy agreements. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 3 years.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group
leased a number of retail stores which contain variable lease
payment terms that are based on sales generated from the
retail stores and minimum annual lease payment terms that
are fixed. These payment terms are common in retail stores
in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Macau where the Group
operates. During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021,
the Group received rent concessions in the form of a discount
on fixed payments during the period of severe social
distancing and travel restriction measures introduced to
contain the spread of COVID-19. The amounts of fixed and
variable lease payments recognised in profit or loss for the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 are summarised
below:

2022
COVID-19
H1 B AL 4 0 W
B AF kg A sk COVID-19- Mm%
Fixed Variable related rent Total
payments payments  concessions payments
$000 $000 $°000 $°000
T Retail stores | 44,500 7,934 (3,948) 48,486
2021
COVID-19
AH B AH 4 UK
W E AT AT AR B A K COVID-19-
Fixed Variable related rent MR A K
payments payments concessions  Total payments
$'000 $°000 $°000 $°000
FAE IS Retail stores | 51,161 9,049 (15,720) 44,490
HAthFH & (i)  Other leases

A S WY R B e B O =
S A9 A By — 2= AR R R
(RN ENORTIE o LN N R

& BOE W SE 10 BT A HEHE £

ASEBAE SR 51— (R I
DL UL 4 i A B 58 B
i1 -

(iv)

The Group leases plant and machinery and office equipment
under leases expiring from 1 to 5 years. None of the leases
includes variable lease payments.

Ownership interests in leasehold investment properties

The Group holds a commercial property in the United
Kingdom to earn rental income and/or capital appreciation.
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11 eEHEREMLHE WG
Bk 6 (m)

(c) 581 #E & FE (47)
(v) FHEHEY)SER P A HERE 25 (40

BB — K

ASSE I 22 W) S i ) B RO N
Sz A8 A AH B R B R R A A
SR AR [ 2 TR AT A T
A5 A B A BT R o 2
FRCHEA N A A B N 4
Z A E RS SCAT o Mt Y
EMHAE MM A1264 > Hid
O HEENHERAZT
53 FH AT O AR T IR AR AR
AR B A M R T E Y- I EL
FAOFIH I — R LA BT 5 4 o

WE X R T
ZA=Et—H IR EME
)1 18 E L R] S A B AT ke

11 Investment properties and other property, plant

and equipment (continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets (continued)

(v)

Ownership interests in leasehold investment properties
(continued)

Investment properties — United Kingdom

The Group is the registered owner of these property interests
and obtained the right of use of the underlying land through
head lease signed between the freeholder of the underlying
land and the Group. Lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire the property interests from the previous registered
owner. The head lease of the underlying land runs for an
initial period of 125 years and contain variable lease payment
terms that are based on rental income generated from
subleases and minimum annual lease payment term are
fixed and increased every 10 years to reflect market rentals.

During the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the
amounts of fixed and variable lease payments under the
head lease are summarised below:

M T
2022
[RE - G E 3 ELR e B A
Fixed Variable Total
payments payments payments
$°000 $°000 $°000
WEWE Investment properties
— — United Kingdom 802 581 1,383
2021
8 T3 Al ) A5 K
Fixed Variable HAFR AT K
payments payments Total payments
$'000 $'000 $'000
wEyE Investment properties
— e Y — United Kingdom 799 226 1,025
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11 Investment properties and other property, plant

B it i (s and equipment (continued)
(d) KEBREYHEZFHFWE : (d) Details of the Group’s investment properties are as follows:
2022
b Hui & AW Location Existing use Term of lease
Nos. 42-43 Great WES = £ Nos. 42-43 Great Marlborough Offices and Long-term
Marlborough Street, & Street, London W1V, restaurants lease
London W1V, The United Kingdom
The United Kingdom
2021
o HuiM& AW Location Existing use Term of lease
JURE 1 3 5 15 4 9% /AN F  UnitB, C,D, GandHon 7/F, and Offices, Medium-term
#e I T2 K 7 L B Car Parking Space No. 8 on 1/F, factories lease
B-C D GMHZE > =91 Wah Shun Industrial Building, and
T 1 B8 % 45 L vf 4 Cho Yuen Street, Yau Tong, warehouses
Kowloon

JUTHE B 3 1L 5 28 Wk T ' Unit Nos. 1 and 2 on 8/F, Factories Medium-term
F NN Lee Sum Factory Building, lease
81 2= 28 Ng Fong Street, Kowloon
Nos. 42-43 Great b /N = Nos. 42-43 Great Marlborough Offices and Long-term
Marlborough Street, &y Street, London W1V, restaurants lease
London W1V, The United Kingdom
The United Kingdom
7 4% & F 5B HY g 3% B W (e) Investment properties leased out under operating leases
AEBMPUK S ER B REDE The Group leases out investment properties under operating
M —mwE s+ HFE(CE leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 25 years
T B AHAE) B RER (2021: 1 to 25 years), with an option to renew the leases at which
FRAEH > il IR T A B AT EOR P E o time all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes
£ TH K8 TS 3 O B R 8 ) AL IR variable lease payments.
3K e
A A AR B OR AT Mg B 2 A% B A Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
o W R AR R 2 S A A KRR leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the
BN Group in future periods as follows:

2022 2021

$°000 $°000
—E R Within 1 year 5,185 7,468
— A H WA A After 1 year but within 2 years 5,199 6,077
W AFEZME =ZF N After 2 years but within 3 years 5,185 5,402
AR AH Y AR A After 3 years but within 4 years 5,185 5,387
VY 4F A% H AR A After 4 years but within 5 years 5,185 5,387
HAFE% After 5 years 20,271 21,060

46,210 50,781

LiNEE S ES (f) Disposal of investment properties

07

HEZEF=A=+—HILFE
AEBMHEEAEFTENRED ERE
4 97,865,000 7C - Ik %

13,336,000 7C ©

& #
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group disposed of
investment properties in Hong Kong at a consideration of
$97,865,000, resulting in a net gain on disposal of $13,336,000.
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12 % & & 12 Intangible assets

83

2022 2021

$°000 $'000

[ Guy Laroche | P 12 Guy Laroche trademark | 102,050 102,050
[ Ashworth | 7 1% Ashworth trademark ! 31,392 31,392
! 133,442 133,442

[Guy Laroche ][ Ashworth J 7 {Z # 15 1E
A4 R A A R o N6 AR PR B RE AE 1(h) TH 2 &
FT R AR -

S RS9 RIS 4 B P R A ) il

[Guy Laroche | #1TAshworth | 7 243 FIl
JH A TGuy Laroche | f1T Ashworth | f#) 4= Bk
ES/NIE A 41D

BB R R EEA R
4 53 W T B 140 B 7 2 L0 00 T i L
LT3 A0 00 )LD B o 3 i 01 1
W0 SRR G A A R S B A
90140 T AP 0 B 0 B O A7 B
B8 2 LG 080 o T 0 2 B
Vi FR A 203 IR % 4 B o B R T 9

Guy Laroche and Ashworth trademark are considered to have
indefinite useful lives and are accounted for in accordance with
accounting policy note 1(h).

Impairment tests for trademarks with an indefinite useful economic life

Guy Laroche and Ashworth trademarks service Guy Laroche and
Ashworth worldwide operations respectively and are separately
identifiable.

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the recoverable amounts of the cash-
generating units (“CGU”) to which the trademarks were allocated
are determined based on value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use
calculations of the CGUs were carried out by an external valuer,
Ravia based on cash flow projections prepared by management
covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond five-year period are
extrapolated using terminal growth rates. The following key

TR AT AR assumptions have been used for the value-in-use calculations:
2022
[ Guy
Laroche | [ Ashworth ]
i B i B
Guy Laroche Ashworth
trademark trademark
Al IR &R Discount rate 17.8% 18.1%
KA &R Terminal growth rate 3% 2%,
2021
[ Guy
Laroche | [ Ashworth |
P P R
Guy Laroche Ashworth
trademark trademark
0 B % Discount rate | 17.4% 17.8%
KA B R Terminal growth rate | 3% 2%

BB R B - L7 5 R 2 g 4
B A T A A T AT 4 B ] AR ) -
R R B A N T 6 R %
SN E —FZH=ZF—HMW
Wi 5] 4 3 -

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key
assumptions on which the recoverable amount measurement is based
would not cause the carrying amount of the trademarks to exceed their
recoverable amounts at 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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RERRN 13 Lease premium
2022 2021
$000 $'000
)% 3 Cost:
F W) At the beginning of the year - 8,122
iy Disposal - (8.122)
AR At the end of the year - _
Bal A : Accumulated impairment losses:
4] At the beginning of the year - 8,122
H B IR 4 [ Written back on disposal _ (8,122)
R At the end of the year - _
I i 3 1 - Net book value:
AR At the end of the year - _

BT HE BT A5 — [ B 4 W) RS 1A
— FT W) 3 2 R T S AT 2 WO - i %
WP 2% m) AN 74O % 4 3 o B A RE S AR
EMLETT —ME% - Bt HEH
2 1R T B A I R AT AR AR
7 AR B B T 5 1 (h) TH 2 8 T BOR - 1% R
ICRCRIEN S RIN

MEEEERER -2 - —F=A=+—

1(h).

Lease premium represents an amount paid by a subsidiary to obtain
the right to lease a property in France. In the event that the subsidiary
vacates the property, the subsidiary would be entitled to sell the right
to the lease to the next tenant. Accordingly, the lease premium is
considered to have an indefinite useful economic life and is carried at
cost less impairment loss in accordance with accounting policy note

The underlying lease has been expired during the year 31 March 2021.

H A Je T
fEEHBENSB Z &% 14 Trading securities
2022 2021
$°000 $000
AR R DL A S E (R Financial assets measured at FVPL
& AlVE B
—HFWLIANE EWTIEBMERE % — Unlisted non-equity securities outside
Hong Kong 17,119 16,475
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15 # R 15 Inventories
(a) WEAEMBRELAZHEE BT : (a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position
comprise:
2022 2021
$000 $'000
JE AL R Raw materials 3,941 3,017
TE B Work in progress 845 609
LOp T Finished goods 34,131 31,817
38,917 35,443
(b) HERZPIZM OG- AHEwNFEEH (b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
AU TE - and included in profit or loss is as follows:
2022 2021
$000 $'000
B2 IR Carrying amount of inventories sold 79,528 96,796
17 B T Write-down of inventories 4,491 13,367
A7 B 0 43 [ Reversal of write-down of inventories (11,010) (30,532)
73,009 79,631
3% 0] o8 A AR BEAE B 2 A BT B The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior years arose
i R 2 BRI 2 0B T 5| AR 1 due to an increase in the estimated realisable value of certain
w5 B E 88 - garments as a result of a change in consumer preferences.
16 JE W W& A% K B fb B WK Ak 16 Trade and other receivables
2022 2021
$°000 $°000
JRE i AR 3K Trade debtors 23,507 27,931
N = RE ] Less: Loss allowance (6,395) (12,540)
17,112 15,391
Fie 4~ FE AT 3R S H A R i Kk Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 23,381 24,374
18 BRI AR A (B 555 21 1) Employee retirement benefits (note 21) 1,308 711
41,801 40,476
o JHC by JRE i 3K 25 896,000 06 (& — —4F - All of the Group’s trade and other receivables, apart from other
1,548,00070) Fk » A 45 [F it A IR 3k &% receivables of $896,000 (2021: $1,548,000), are expected to be
At R AT K TR B AT — AR A i e s R recovered or recognised as expense within one year.
HHEHR -
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ME W M w3k B 30 fb B U K (s0) 16 Trade and other receivables (continued)

AR ARG WK B R IR R (5 s 18 At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade debtors
R BB IR R (net of loss allowance) based on invoice date is as follows:

2022 2021

$°000 $000
—f@H N Within 1 month 12,180 12,315
— 8 AL EH 8 A LA Over 1 month but within 2 months 3,263 1,408
ZAE A EHE=ZEA A Over 2 months but within 3 months 1,013 1,003
=M A EEA+AZMEA N Over 3 months but within 12 months 656 665

17,112 15,391

JE W MR R AE B B OH AR 1 30 £ 90 H A | Trade debtors are due within 30 days to 90 days from the date of billing.
W1 A AR S S BOR 2 — 25 FE I MR Details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 25(a).

B} 5% 2 25(a) JH -

HEeERBAE%5MEW KX XM 17 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow

&R EEN information
(a) Bl RBl&FMHY G : (a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
2022 2021
$000 $'000
HRAT Z A7 3K Deposits with banks 68,524 72,882
SRATAF AR BB A& Cash at bank and on hand 64,264 69,541
AR AR FE TR 2 Cash and cash equivalents in the
B4 K Bl &5 consolidated statement of
financial position 132,788 142,423
SRATE S (MY 555 1918) Bank overdrafts (note 19) (7,049) (8,864)
BAEB &R ERRZ Cash and cash equivalents in the
W4 M 4% EY consolidated cash flow statement 125,739 133,559
FFABR S RBSEEDNE G2 Included in the balance of cash and cash equivalents is an amount
B #13,244,000 70 ( — & = — 4F of $13,244,000 (2021: $5,442,000) representing Renminbi Yuan
5,442,000 7C) > /b A 45 B o B A deposits placed with banks in Mainland China by the Group. The
SRAT A7 B N B OWEAT B e R BN remittance of these funds out of Mainland China is subject to the
A% & 4 R BE AN > JH BE S B L exchange controls imposed by the PRC government.

JRF it o 114 S BE A 1] o
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17 Bl & K& Bl & % fi ¥ K& 3t fb Bl

&' B (8

(b) A% B Bl 1T i A (5 H) ] B %5 A

information (continued)

17 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow

(b) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before taxation to cash (used in)/

HHETH) EAEZBE: generated from operations:
W 5E 2022 2021
Note $°000 $°000
W Bi AT U 4 (s 48) Profit/(loss) before taxation 1,973 (6,964)
FHREIEH ¢ Adjustments for:
FEHE B ARG R 2 &M EE  Interest income on financial assets
Z FE WA measured at amortised cost 5 (287) (461)
H B e 2 2 IR A% TR A Net gain on disposal of investment
properties (13,336) _
O H AL B R Net loss on disposal of other property,
i i REE plant and equipment 5 11 305
MEEEE AR ZES Net gain on disposal of trading securities
LG TRELE ] 5 - (36)
FEHE RN M8 Change in fair value of trading securities
EPa e 5 (34) 22)
EQREO ] Provision of claims 23(a) (5,478) 9,570
Rl & R A Finance costs 6(a) 2,379 3,182
s Depreciation 8(c) 33,751 35,279
1 & ) 2E Ak (E I 25 Net valuation gains on investment
tRiE i} properties 11(a) (6,405) (3,178)
HAth Wy 2 - f 7z Kkt 2 Impairment loss on other property, plant
Ui A e 1 and equipment 6(c) - 4,513
& 1 ol 4t Gain on lease modifications 8(c) (1,910) _
ST B B )8 2 B i 45 AR Net gain on deregistration of
subsidiaries (3,928) -
Wi B COVID-19 A1 B #H 4= COVID-19-related rent concessions
L received (3,948) (15,720)
T 50 i 45 Foreign exchange gain (647) (8,117)
WEE S Changes in working capital:
() & WD (Increase)/decrease in inventories (3,474) 24355
T 4 2 4 Wk D Decrease in rental deposits 3,535 2,009
JRE AT B SR (B )b (Increase)/decrease in trade debtors (1,959) 3,032
e &~ TE AT B R H A R Decrease/(increase) in deposits,
W (38 ) prepayments and other receivables 253 (2,350)
JOE AT B K 3 (il 72) Increase/(decrease) in trade creditors 3,649 (7,493)
JRE AN 22 4% ek 0 Decrease in bills payable - (3,782)
Al A5 3R B T Decrease in other payables and
Ik b accrued charges (1,906) (3,458)
A Rl & A& WD Decrease in contract liabilities (1,908) (1,425)
B WD Decrease in provisions (4,092) _
JRE AF B 2 W) 3OH Decrease in amounts due to related
Ik b companies 67) (798)
MEEW (TR k2 Bl4 Cash (used in)/generated from operations (3,828) 28,461
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(B 5 45 B 35 4F - # L1l o8 %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

17 RERBAEE5EMY X E b3l
W EE B (8

(c) HI il 5% B B A 2 i B R
A AR [ R RO ) O A 2 R B Y
2H.-AEHeEHEeEH 2
FESITA TR 2% o bh AT B A 1A RS
B 7% 5% 1805 8 25 Kot AR A BB 0
RALHMBLGZERERERT > &
Ry L B 2 B A o

17 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow
information (continued)

(¢c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from
financing activities.

2022 2021
BAE  RUISAR RIS HEAR
Interest Lease o Interest Lease ¥l
accruals liabilities Total accruals liabilities Total
(W k) (B &E)
(Note) (Note)
$000 $'000 $'000 $000 $000 $000
i) Atthe beginning of the year - 73,756 73,756 - 105991 105,991
BES LR Changes from financing cash flows:
ME X Interest paid (265) - (265) (367) - (367)
EXfHEHEZEA Capital element of lease rentals paid
i by - (@3194) (43,199 S W09 #1,097)
CEMMEREZAE Interest element of lease rentals paid
iy - 2,114 (2,114) - (2,815) (2,815)
MER SN B EH Total changes from financing
cash flows (265) (45308 (45,579 (367 43919 (44,279
gt : Other changes:
MBS (WEE56@%E)  Interest expenses (note 6(a) 265 2,114 2,379 367 2,815 3,182
RERFAHREZ Increase in lease liabilties from
HER &M entering into new leases during
the year - 20,082 20,082 - 24,416 24,416
- MEgT Adjustment - lease modifications - 9,286 9,286 - 166 166
COVID-19 A B L4 72 COVID-19-related rent concessions
(W &E 5 11(c) ) received (note 11(c)) - (3,948) (3,948) - (5700 (15720)
265 27,534 27,799 367 11,677 12,044
A At the end of the year - 55,982 55,982 - 73,756 73,756

MiGE: SRITBEXMEB P EFEEFTAL C
AL 45 T8 5 B B 5 IR DL R A0 T HE RF B2 %
At A B R A R AL A e

Note: Interest accruals represented interests on bank overdrafts which were included

in “Trade and other payables and contract liabilities” on the face of the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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17 B4ERBE%5EY KX EMB 17 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow

40 a ' kB (8) information (continued)
(d) Fil BB 2w H A (d) Total cash outflow for leases
HEBSRBERPEED THEZ Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement for
ok leases comprise the following:
2022 2021
$000 $'000
B 7 A8 B T Within operating cash flows 9,243 9,910
£ A FlE B4 = Within financing cash flows 45,308 43,912
54,551 53,822

18 JE 44 R 3% K 3L fb ME i 3% % & 18 Trade and other payables and contract liabilities
il £1 45

2022 2021
$°000 $'000

A MR 3% B JE Al ME 44 5k Trade and other payables
JRE A HiE 3K Trade creditors 10,561 7,364
Al A} 3K M E A #% ) Other payables and accrued charges 25745 27 500
JRE AT B 2 N ] 3k0E Amounts due to related companies 117 184
36,423 35,048

A Contract liabilities

L K Receipts in advance 481 0,531
36,904 37,579
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18 ME £ MR =% B M Mk ME £+ 2%k & &
W £ A ()

(a) B 3k Je S At JE £F 5

(b)

JEE A5F R K % G b B AF 3K JELR 19 B A
EWBIR — F R HHE -

JOE AT IR 2R 2% WD RO A AR - e B
Jo 4 A B R -

WA WS R B AR S & e
RN H IR TN

18 Trade and other payables and contract liabilities

(continued)

(a) Trade and other payables

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled
within one year.

The amounts due to related companies are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
creditors based on invoice date is as follows:

2022 2021
$000 $000
— i AN Within 1 month 7,778 5,259
—{E H L EH =1 H LR Over 1 month but within 3 months 2,569 1,728
“MAA LA EESMEA A Over 3 months but within 6 months 166 275
4 7S {1 A Over 6 months 48 102
10,561 7,364
& ld A 1 (b) Contract liabilities
HEMERAMAMSFEEREED Typical payment terms which impact the amount of contract
— S AT IR liabilities recognised are as follows:
A 2 )l R B R ORR At 2 2 Bl The Group receives advances from certain customers in
] 5 F % 5 B GEK o A B B R T connection with the licensing arrangements and the provision of
REARARK BHETHRBITEMT security printing. These advances are recognised as contract
By ik e liabilities until the performance obligations are completed.
EREENEH Movements in contract liabilities
2022 2021
$000 $'000
) At the beginning of the year 2,531 3,657
FERNTERFEVFAGH Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
Bl 1Y U A5 1 2B A TR recognising revenue during the year that
RS was included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year (2,389) (3,957)
AN R 4 4 BE BB L Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
2 4 B R 1) 2 5 Al B K receiving advances from customers
T 2 34 IR B 3 during the year in respect of the licensing
arrangements and provision of security
printing 481 2,531
[ifE 5, 7 & Exchange adjustments (142) 300
R At the end of the year 481 2,631

P A B W JE B RO AR — A A D

All receipts in advance are expected to be recognised as income

R e

within one year.
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19

AT & X
HE_ LR _F_—F=H
S H I EE RATE R

19 Bank overdrafts
At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the bank overdrafts were as follows:

2022 2021
$000 $000
— AN B A AR Repayable within one year or on demand:
A 1P AY SR AT 5 S (MR 58 17(a) JH)  Unsecured bank overdrafts (note 17(a)) 7,049 8,864

REECCERCE D EEA = —H
AL ] BT A SR AT AR B R A B A O Y
B 3240 B9 A o

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group’s banking facilities were not
subject to the fulfilment of any financial covenants.

20 Al 1% £ i 20 Lease liabilities
HME - AR F T —F A At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the lease liabilities were repayable as
=t —HIEFEE HEABEERDT follows:
2022 2021
$°000 $°000
—HF LA Within 1 year 26,657 39,766
—HEBEHFER After 1 year but within 2 years 11,912 15,334
CAERMEIAFE R After 2 years but within 5 years 6,761 7,774
HAFER After 5 years 10,652 10,882
29,325 33,990
55,982 73,756
21 1@ H B thw A 21 Employee retirement benefits

7 A5 ] T 4 B8 s G e S B 4 Rk
B) 2 B - oy AR s IR R A6 ) 1 )
Z M8 B % T s e R A sl E (7 5 RE 4
FHE D) o M A EHE Y E R E A HOR K
FHE s T Z AN B o R R AR
arwt il R TR e B S HR R B A BIK
A Z 5% % sk B B AL & A A Bk
A2 FBR A 30,0007C o [A] 3% &t # 1F H 2 it
Ty B I B R o

TE o B A T R S 2 B 4 W 2o
B O 2 B A e R B AR 2 B E R
BB o % 5F BEFOR SON R A AR R TBR o
I6] 5% wt & A 22 ATy BY R B & o

— I AE & 8L 2 W 2w AR B (5
5l I e k) 2 B — TH 5 E AR AR AR R ) -
% wt HAAE EN RERE OR R B
MR AEEEGHAFEm 2 (FEg
at e Q) S 19 5% [ A 47 7 # 5% -

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement scheme administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

Subsidiaries established in Mainland China participate in the defined
contribution retirement schemes operated by the PRC government for
employees in Mainland China. Contributions to these schemes are
charged to profit or loss when incurred. Contributions to the schemes
vest immediately.

A subsidiary established in Taiwan participates in a defined benefit
retirement plan established in accordance with the local Labour
Standards Law. The scheme is not material to the Group and, therefore,
the disclosures required by HKAS 19, Employee benefits, have not
been presented.
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21 @ B B k& A s

FoAb AE A - b B A M % B LS F] ik
R T 55 A G ST 2 BAY R 2 R AR B A R
FIEME I 2 R > 2 B 2y R B

21 Employee retirement benefits (continued)

Subsidiaries established in other jurisdictions other than Hong Kong,
Mainland China and Taiwan participate in the defined contribution
retirement schemes operated by the local government for employees

AR 2 Bt A FOR R EE# o 5% 5F R #E in accordance with the ruling in the relevant jurisdictions. Contributions
OB AT R B R 4 0B o 10 5% 5 #AE I to these schemes are charged to profit or loss when incurred.

Z AT B I B

Contributions to the schemes vest immediately.

22 B MBRIREEZ B 22 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position
(a) A7 & B3R U0 56 B s Z 2 3 By 75 Bt (a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position
% represents:
2022 2021
$000 $000
7 s F) 15 Bl HE A Balance relating to Hong Kong Profits Tax (213) (6554)
75 HE DL A Hb 15 Bl TR VE A Balance relating to tax outside Hong Kong 215 502
2 (52)
S F Analysed as follows:
7 1 a] 3R [a] Bl T Current tax recoverable (317) (654)
A 3 IR AT B IH Current tax payable 319 602
2 (52)

(b) CHEGRBEERIEEE"HAH:

() R &R a B IR UL R e R

& BLIE () /Eﬁiw\&ﬂi

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(i)  The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised

in the consolidated statement of financial position and the

EEEBT movements during the year are as follows:
AW
NERBHZ
I % B
Temporary
difference
between
depreciation BEE#HZ
and H % A 2
the related Future
depreciation 6% i benefit of Hm
BHEBEEA : Deferred tax arising from:  allowances Provisions tax losses Total
$000 $000 $000 $000
WZZZZENA—H At 1 April 2020 (915) 746 (2,777) (2,946)
EE 3¢, 3 Exchange adjustments - (16) (52) (68)
EEFBLRCIKE,(GFA)  Charged/(credited) to
(FfF 5 56 7(2) TH) profit or loss (note 7(al) 2,231 (778) 2,681 4,134
WZFZ—F=H=1—H At31March2021 and
B-%F-—®ENA—H 1 April 2021 1,316 48) (148) 1,120
fEE 7, 3 % Exchange adjustments - 3) 1 2
BB LTI, (GFA)  Charged/(credited) to
(Bt 5% 565 7 () 1) profit or loss (note 7(a)) (511) 122 ®) (395)
MoFE - ZHE=ZA=+—H At31March 2022 805 71 (163) 723
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2 BEAEMBIRRFEZ2MH B (8) 22 Income tax in the consolidated statement of
financial position (continued)

(b) © 328 0 4t fl JH & / A1 (4) (b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (continued)
(i) WRE A ARG MR %R (i)  Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial
position
2022 2021
$000 $000

ARG BB IR FE N Net deferred tax assets recognised in the
MR 2 IRIEHIIEEE  consolidated statement of financial position
i (281) (243)

TEEA MBI RN Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
W2 R TE A S  consolidated statement of financial position

i (E 1,004 1,363
723 1,120
(¢) R HERRZ WB AL it JH & & (¢) Deferred tax assets not recognised
I EINEZ st BR > AN4E In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(r), the
B A% 5t 2 5T BLBS 5 1H1504,536,0007C (— Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
% . — 4 1 500,907,000 70) M H s cumulative tax losses of $504,536,000 (2021: $500,907,000) and
95,826,000 G e 4 26 B (=& = — other temporary differences of $95,826,000 (2021: $102,075,000)
4 1 102,075,000 7T ) il 58 24 I8 4& B 1E as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the
B o R BE E R AR AN K R] BE AE AH assets can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
B BB A R A Tk ph B % K jurisdictions. The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
FO R S BE A o A 4B E K il R IE in respect of tax losses, whose expiry dates are:
e 15 5 0 S B U A H W H
W
2022 2021
$°000 $°000
% _—%+_H In December 2021 - 16,342
nH_F -4+ H In December 2022 4,261 22 641
E-FZ - =F+_H In December 2023 16,165 19,435
EZEUAEFZH In December 2024 17,033 13,571
T FE _HE+T A In December 2025 11,907 10,976
fE_FE _RNET_H In December 2026 1,823 1,758
E_E _EFE+H In December 2027 183 177
R )T H In December 2028 965 930
E_EIJETZH In December 2029 6,205 5,983
o F=ZFE+ A In December 2030 2,635 2,444
o E=—#+_"H In December 2031 2,198 -
TEHRATRBER TN AEETR Do not expire under current tax legislation 441,261 406,650
504,536 500,907
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22 &% W B R Bk 2 B A4 B (s0)

23

(d)

T 78 2 AE L Bl A
By B AR N B T — A=A
=4 — B AL E R P E A
J& A FIE A R o i A e

22 Income tax in the consolidated statement of

financial position (continued)

(d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021, the subsidiaries of the
Group based in Mainland China have no undistributed profits.

5 23 Provisions
0 95
(B 3k 23(a) %)
Provision for
claims
(Note 23(a))
$°000
WoEZERAFEMHA —H Balance at 1 April 2020 _
Al P Provision made 9,570
WoE T —4FEZH=+—H Balance at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021
SE T —FMHA—H 9,570
SRR ] Utilised during the year (4,092)
155 A 1] 43¢ Provision written back (5,478)
o E T CHEZA=Z=+—H Balance at 31 March 2022 -

Wi T

@)

W E—NEZA =+ — B R E
i # Aquascutum Holdings Limited T
B = ((E D% BMEEIE
4 A B e ([ AH B 0 o 1) 7 & R
TE IR — R F (TR 1) -

CE A E T H IR E
WM ZE RS EFRNE
28 Bl TS £ I B A W) (T &
T e Y A FR ) $R R E BB EA - BEOR
AR AT A B B HoAth & - HE R
182 09 B T e W 5 48 % 4 9,857,060
{8 [ 7T (# %% 12 9,670,000 7T) -

M oEFE A ZH = —HIEAEE
2 B A AR [ — [ B A W RT AL
fift 19 5% > W) 2= LA 48 4> %f 4,000,000 8
9 JT (045 4 3,908,000 70) fift P F i >
F R BT EE A 0k R AR A% A RE
A &AW S PR g
1#5,478,000 7C °

Note:

@)

Upon the disposal of Aquascutum Holdings Limited to an
independent third party (the “Purchaser”) during the year ended
31 March 2018, the tenancy agreement (“Tenancy Agreement”)
of retail stores in Macau was also assigned to a subsidiary of the
Purchaser (“Defendant”). During the year ended 31 March 2021,
the landlord of retail stores in Macau filed a declaratory judgement
action in the form of an ordinary lawsuit against the Defendant
and a subsidiary of the Group which was the guarantor of the
Tenancy Agreement demanding for unpaid rent and other fees
and compensation for damages and losses amounting to a total
of MOP9,857,060 (equivalent to $9,570,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Landlord and a
subsidiary of the Group entered into a settlement agreement and
agreed to settle the dispute with a total sum of MOP4,000,000
(equivalent to $3,908,000). A reversal of provision for claims of
$5,478,000 was made, after deducting the legal expenses
incurred, in the consolidated financial statements accordingly.
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24 KR~ Gl RS R B B
(a) MEZSEBI 5B

24 Capital, reserves and dividends

(a) Movements in components of equity

AL 2 A AR R AR A 1 AR A The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
BRI b5 AR S SR B A o each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in
AN\ 225 AR RE 25 5 4 19 4R ) K AR the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the
KEHFHFH W T changes in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
AR A H Company
BeA R
Share  Retained M
iy ek capital profits Total
Note $°000 $000 $°000
B RENA—H Balance at 1 April 2020 383,909 134,077 517,986
REAR SR W) Changes in equity:
ARl 4R M A TR 52 Loss and total comprehensive income for
the year - (70,462) (70,462)
W% _—4=H=+—H Balance at 31 March 2021 and
EZZ_—4#NH—H 1 April 2021 383,909 63,615 447,524
PER S - Changes in equity:
AR AF B 25 B 4 T 48 Profit and total comprehensive income for
the year - 50,852 50,852
WEEECMERE M Dividend approved and paid in respect of
95! the previous year 24(b)i) - (16586  (16,586)
FEFETERLCHFTH  Interim dividend declared and paid in
i@ respect of current year 24(o)(i) - (16,586) (16,586)
B4 = =+—H Balance at 31 March 2022 383,909 81,295 465,204
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24 A~ Gl B B B (s 24 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)
(b) B (b) Dividends
() A5 B EAG 2 B A AR 28 7 ME 25 ()  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
il e @5 attributable to the year
2022 2021
$°000 $°000
B E IR K E AT EP ﬁﬁ i 5 4 Interim dividend declared and paid of 10 cents
FGFRAOMN (= = —4F « F A ZAl)  (2021: Nil cents) per ordinary share 16,586 _
AR K H & HE IR R Final dividend proposed after the end of the
Ex 3 4 A S A reporting period of 5 cents (2021: 10 cents)
SFR A R04l) per ordinary share 8,293 16,586
24,879 16,586
WA R BB ERESIRZ The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
A S R A AR R H period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of
MERR 2y B 6K - the reporting period.
(i) bR B LA R AT AR 4 AR (i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
2 JB SR A S (2L A 4R A 2 it attributable to the previous financial year, approved and paid
HE & T A during the year
2022 2021
$°000 $'000

R B U B 2 R S A A Final dividend in respect of the previous
B B0 (2 F4E R L X E ) financial year, approved and paid during

(T = —4F  FREM the year, of 10 cents (2021: Nil cents) per
ordinary share 16,586 -
(c) OB (c) Issued share capital
2022 2021
It % Ji& B
No. of No. of
shares shares
('000) $'000 (000) $'000
O BT B SR e AR Ordinary shares, issued and
g fully paid:
A R AR At the beginning and
the end of the year 165,864 383,909 165,864 383,909
HE 8 A W (A B 1) 55 135 M » A In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies
) 2 A NI A T (E Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a
par value.
W om A N A REYR BOAS B E R 2 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
E > HERfE — A —SaELX as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
w 7 gk b BERE A E R share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally
WA N ARG EEEG SRR - with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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24 B A ~ fifi B % BB ()
(d) 2 B R %

(e)

o

() 4MEE i 5

A1 T fif 45 £ 45 3 55 if A 26 5 B
B H 3 BT AR 2 P A B S o
% fiff 44 AR 42 R 5 569 1 (u) JEL P a2
B P

(i) A

EAGHEMIRE R EYEN
B FEAE A 2 - A )
Y Tl AR o K A AR B B SE SR
1(Q) JE BT # 1 & wH O R P -

AJ it 53 IR i

MR oT D E=ZH=1+—H B
FEHAAGHEEIE - AN F
Al Ay IR T AR N B ERERE A N
5 48 %8 181,295,000 6 ( — & — —
4F 163,615,000 76 ) ° i A H 4 AR
H 1% > # 3 3 5% UR 35 oK 0 I B 19 i
MmN (= F L — A 101l >
4 #H /58,293,000 JC ( & T —4E
16,586,000 JG) (Fft 5 £ 24(0)() FH) °

B A B

ALEE R EAR 2 TR R
A5 B R A0 A A R A A R R AR
R8T 75 At SR B K 7 R S E 2
T s 72 DA R 4 5 B BUA AT RV
A 1y B OROAR A [ i By At A 4
A BR # A 2 A i o

A S8 B R MR K E WA AT KR B K
A ZENE > LU 7 R B (o] e 1 L
AT BT R R K R R
AR P A A 2 B i e AR B 2 T A
S iy o Sl R AR O BR 0 2 B AL B
A LM i

MRAEAT SEM O] > A B2 11 3% o005 4o 3
R EA R B EALHR - W
BLT & A 52 i 0 5 4 0 00 2 7 4
R (B 48 w2 B0 3k R A 6 DL % I A+
HR ke & A A e AL A R) I 2
FHBEIR RS WU B R BB
KT A A P A RE 2R O 00 B8l JE
AFHBEIR R -

24 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(e)

(i)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
set out in note 1(u).

(i)  Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve represents the surplus on
revaluation of land and buildings held for own use upon
change of use to investment properties. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 1(g).

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as
calculated under the provisions of Part 6 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance was $81,295,000 (2021: $63,615,000).
After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a
final dividend of 5 cents (2021: 10 cents) per ordinary share,
amounting to $8,293,000 (2021: $16,586,000) (note 24(b)(i)).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between a higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light
of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For
this purpose, the Group defines net debt as total debt (which
includes interest-bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other
payables and contract liabilities and lease liabilities) plus unaccrued
proposed dividends, less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted
capital comprises all components of equity less unaccrued
proposed dividends.
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24 e A ~ Gilf M B B B\ (s 24 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)
f) BAREH(H) (f) Capital management (continued)
A B2 AR i TR B A A i The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at the end of the
RO T FEFEARL RN T ¢ current and previous reporting periods was as follows:
(: 2022 2021
Note $°000 $°000
it B A Current liabilities:
ATIE X Bank overdrafts 19 7,049 8,864
JRE AT R K S HC Al JRE AT 3k Trade and other payables and
K &R B fE contract liabilities 18 36,904 37,579
iR Lease liabilities 20 26,657 39,766
70,610 86,209
I H) A Non-current liability:
& A 15 Lease liabilities 20 29,325 33,990
fE B A Total debt 99,935 120,199
IR S Add: Proposed dividends 24(b)(i) 8,293 16,586
W e RS EED Less: Cash and cash equivalents 17(a) (132,788) (142,423)
eS8 Adjusted net debt (24,560) (5,638)
HE 2 A Total equity 507,670 558,928
B R i B Less: Proposed dividends 24(b)(i) (8,293) (16,586)
30 I AR Adjusted capital 499,377 542,342
BB MM ALER  Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio (5)% (1)%
Ay ) B AT AT B A ) OR 32 Ah Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
It A R e BR A e externally imposed capital requirements.
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25 W BB K oW T RA
e A

A SR AR I R R B R R b B B
P/ < AR e P N W S S )
B R A AF T & 2 W 2R TR
I B R M JRL e

A B W L AT B R B o 3B DL B RS
PR e O A B A B Ja B

(a) 15 B bR
FEREEL G T ENREAHE
AT 45 B A 4 1) 6 s 8 00 JRL B -

$%H%F§ﬂ%£%%ﬁ§%&
At M Bk TE S FHE R A KR
&2z @5 2'—‘%[%.@%&&%&
S8 AR E R R AR
BEF T AERFRRITNEIT
A 4 [ B B RR B A PR JEL B A

B HE TR S BOR > I R A B
PEE 25 A JEL B o A5 R EUBR A9 I K
JE B8 FR %5 A B R L 2% b A TH 4 Rl
G RE Y R T (H R OR o

L #% & M A 0H £ " AR %
B Fepd 3 3 0 R R K
WOl M EE ORI A A AEE W R
(19 15 45 o By 3= 2 g R E AR S K&
R 45 36 T2 19 AR B IR Bl o A 4R B B R
ZEREMIE RS EE A E I &
= JE AR P A B LB

HEE S I H A I i SR IE T o M A
FEMMGEHTATFERRS — 48
R EENE P EATN - B e
R % 5 3 R R 2 AT 2O S A
HORI M AT RE S W KT R E

B B DL K& B 5 4848 i iR 1 48 %

BEABMNGE B9 EH ANEE
4 H ORI EI W) - B AR
BN € 18 % 5 R A AT A -

ALK Z 2 FE AR ZE&F
FMalfss#me® alEF 2%
17 36 K HoB R 00 & 49 JEL B JR & sy 2

5 &R By > MR/ o Rk > AR
H R R Z 8B & T 2 KR B R
Ao ELEmEEP NG ERB B
TE D HEREFE T —H=ZH
=4 — H o A A EF e E R
A B2 ] Y RE SRR R Y 4 — o

25 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed
to trading securities price risk arising from the trading securities held
by the Group.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables, rental deposits and trading securities. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks with sound credit
rating, for which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to
these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Rental deposits primarily comprise of amounts receivable from
the landlords of retail outlets and shopping malls with no recent
history of material defaults. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
is influenced mainly by the individual characteristic of each landlord
of retail outlets and shopping malls. The Group has worked with
a large number of landlords of retail outlets and shopping malls
and there is no significant concentration of credit risk.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade debtors are due within 90 days from the date of
billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer rather than the industry
or country in which the customer operates and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk only arise if the Group has significant
exposure to individual customer. At 31 March 2022 and 2021,
no individual debtor with outstanding balance exceeded 10% of
the Group’s trade debtors.

4F # 2021/22 Annual Report



& a W R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(B 5 45 B 35 4F - # L1l o8 %1 717~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

25 b E B LSBT LA
oo AE (80

(a) 17 B M B (A7)

A 55 [ DL SE Y B A A7 A B TR AR
BEHRN SRR S EHFEANE
A > W% B BT B A O B RE
H S AS 4 B B R S A 4R 2k A Bl
REZWIAE R R4 R A
BE O R BL . TR RS R O IR BB i 4R
RIEM AT R0 AEHBNA
[l 2 5 0 -

AL A B 5 R B
T AE B R B B R R R BOR

25 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

The Group measures loss allowance for trade debtors at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors:

2022
B8 TR i 4 7
Gross R
N S carrying Loss
Expected amount allowance
loss rate $°000 $°000
A (R i 1) Current (not past due) 0.0% 12,180 -
e A — A Overdue within 1 month 0.0% 3,263 -
A — A Overdue over 1 month but
BE=EMA W within 3 months 0.0% 1,013 -
B =\ A Overdue over 3 months but
24— AR within 12 months 0.0% 656 -
i [ | Overdue over 12 months 100% 6,395 (6,395)
23,507 (6,395)
2021
HEIR T 4 AR
Gross B % 1%
jEEi FiEES carrying Loss
Expected amount allowance
loss rate $°000 $'000
A (R i 1) Current (not past due) 0.0% 11416 _
R — 8 Overdue within 1 month 0.0% 1,869 _
e At — | Overdue over 1 month but
B =48 W within 3 months 0.0% 769 _
B =R A Overdue over 3 months but
B+ =8 A within 12 months 0.0% 1,337 _
i [ D E| Overdue over 12 months 100.0% 12 540 (12,540)
27,931 (12,540)
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25 @ BB R oW LR A

oA (8)
(a) 1550 57 (45)

(b)

O RS O A L 2 A 2 )
W -

25 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
debtors during the year is as follows:

2022 2021

$°000 $000
AR At the beginning of the year 12,540 9,423
[E 53, 7 %% Exchange adjustments (189) 829
O il B R (E R 1 Impairment loss recognised 2,727 3,733
VRN SRR Reversal of impairment loss (8,683) (1,445)
AR R At the end of the year 6,395 12,540
i B 4 R (b) Liquidity risk

AR A B R R B AT R R
B B B S A e R A
BEREBEARUBN AN B &
SR (e £ B 0 7O 78 o 2 1R
IRV TRy ZH M AR A 2 T 3 L) o
AEBZBRBEMNEERS E S
i R L ST R Foah () o LA
PR HE 5 90 B A ROk B
IR R A W N < g )
EMNHERENZ B EETK -

R A G R A O R B IR A
B B R A IR AR A
A B BR T3 3% & %9 R B BUBL 6 0 B (f
5 68 1 & & A 5 H 2 M B ARG
fisg 7% 3 B R R &G BB E R 2 R R
FED) LR SR T AT RE A AR L d R
H & -

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible for
their own cash management, including the short term investment
of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to the approval by the Company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of authority.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants (if any), to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end
of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay.
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25 @ BE A B X 4 T H A 25 Financial risk management and fair values of

T A (#) financial instruments (continued)
(b) B & & BE () (b) Liquidity risk (continued)
2022
£ &9 AR W5 BLIG BL 43

Contractual undiscounted cash outflows

—4EPE WAEME

AR R AR
1K H A4 =H
—4E N More than More than =1+—H
B ¥ m 1 year 2 years Y Vi i
Within  butless  butless FAEV, I Carrying
1 year or than than More than A amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 March
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
RATE X Bank overdrafts 7,049 - - - 7,049 7,049
JRE AT B K Trade creditors 10,561 - - - 10,561 10,561
Ho At € fF . Other payables and
MIEGHE ] accrued charges 25,745 - - - 25,745 25,745
JRE AT [ 2 Amounts due to
NEIE: @) related companies 117 - - - 117 117
5 B Lease liabilities 27,619 12,408 7,608 74,902 122,537 55,982
71,091 12,408 7,608 74,902 166,009 99,454
2021
G AR R LR B4
Contractual undiscounted cash outflows
— R E WA L
(Wi Wiy
T 4F A =
—4E A Morethan More than =4=H
Y 42 38 A 1 year 2 years W T (B
Within but less butless H 4D L Carrying
1 year or than than  More than A amount at
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 31 March
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
BRATIE X Bank overdrafts 8,864 - - - 8,864 8,864
JEASF BE 3% Trade creditors 7,364 - - - 7,364 7,364
HAt BE A} 2 Other payables and
MIEGFHE ] accrued charges 27,500 - - - 27,500 27,500
JRE AT [l 7 Amounts due to
NI @5 related companies 184 - - - 184 184
iENES =K Lease liabilities 42,018 15,998 8,523 77,315 143,854 73,756
85,930 15,998 8,523 77,315 187,766 117,668
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25 Rl BE B KA T 1A
oA (80

(c) FI R i
AR AR B 2 )R AR E RATIE S -
e w] A A AR A 2 S B A 4R F R
5 & RN R JE B o A B I B
NI E Y R N

(c) Interest rate risk

25 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank overdrafts.
Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk. The Group monitors the level of its fixed
rate and variable rate borrowings and manages the contractual

WEMFEMBEEELAEZAH terms of the interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities. The
YRR o B I e 2 AR AR R AR Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by management is set
DL F R out below:
() FIZ= AN () Interest rate profile
TR T A G AR AR The following table details the interest rate profile of the
IR H 2 R R AL o Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period.
2022 2021
L E R B F 22 %
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
% $°000 % $’000
[l & A %A% 1% Fixed rate borrowings:
HEAR Lease liabilities 3.45 55,982 3.36 73,756
LR ¥ EX §t Variable rate borrowings:
RATE XL Bank overdrafts 3.63 7,049 1.84 8,864
i 45 4 %1 Total borrowings 63,031 82,620
TE ] A B % Fixed rate borrowings as a
RSN E I percentage of total
borrowings 89% 89%
(iy R o AT (i) Sensitivity analysis

W oE D CAFE=ZA =1 —H
18 % P AT A 5 AR R OR 4
FlREEH b B 1001 5 B
il 51 & 4 SA S 2 R B AE
BLA TS ERNT

e,/ b JH#52,000 7T (& = —

i 1 64,00000) o &5 A FE 45 2
il #4345 A & W R R -
Tt/ F B A2 B R

At R E O AT R A AR
B Bl A% s 1 (% PR B A1) R R
R %ﬁﬁ?izﬁf“ﬂ:ﬂ 3
A A B R B AR A A &

T AR IR AT R ) — R ﬁ°

At 31 March 2022, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have increased/decreased
the Group’s profit after tax and decreased/increased retained
profits by approximately $52,000 (2021: $64,000). Other
components of consolidated equity would not be affected
in response to the general increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the impact on the
Group’s loss after tax (and retained profits) that would arise
assuming that there is an annualised impact on interest
expense or income of such a change in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2021.
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25 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(d)

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and
purchases which give rise to receivables, payables and cash
balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily United States dollars (“‘USD”), Pound Sterling (“GBP”),
Euros, Renminbi Yuan and Japanese Yen.

As the Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) is pegged to the USD,
management does not expect any significant movements in the
USD/HKD exchange rate and considers the exposure to foreign
currency risk in relation to the USD to be low. However,
management acknowledges that it is exposed to fluctuations in
the exchange rate for other currencies and the Group ensures
that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or
selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address
short-term imbalances.

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional
currency of the entity taking out the loan or, in the case of the
Group’s entities whose functional currency is HKD, in either HKD
or USD. Given this, management does not expect that there will
be any significant currency risk associated with the Group’s
borrowings.

(i)  Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end
of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they
relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the
exposures are shown in HKD, translated using the spot rate
at the year end date. Differences resulting from the translation
of the financial statements of operations outside Hong Kong
into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

7 32 5h e IR Bg: (DA ¥ 72 50 7%
Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HKD)
X by ARW HH
United States Pound HOTH Renminbi Japanese
Dollars Sterling Euros Yuan Yen
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000  $000
JEWCBE S & Trade and other
HA s receivables - 3934 - - - 408 - 3 _ _
Ha K Cash and cash
Be%HEY  equivaents 1,108 2708 140 146 1,878 839 18607 9,110 80 898
MEATBE S & Trade and other
HAiEMZ  payables and
Eal & contract liabilties (14) (311) - - (2416) (6,673 (867) (188)  (574)  (108)
1,094 6,331 140 146 (538) (5,420) 17,740 8,925 (494) 785
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(i)

25 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)
R B AT (i)  Sensitivity analysis
TR GRS R R B AR The following table indicates the instantaneous change in
45 ] 7R I B ORI B Y B N T R the Group’s loss after tax (and retained profits) that would
A CEHOBE A A ) O At 3 i R arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
A BAREEPBLEER (& significant exposure at the end of the reporting period had
PR 88 s ) AR Y BRI RE 28 {L - BE changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables
A s A 4R R 2 W o K 3R remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the
JG 2 [ 2 8 TE R 7 35 on 3 pegged rates between the HKD and the USD would be
fib & W 2> I =R 53 Bh 5 228 B4 o materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value
of the USD against other currencies.
2022 2021
BBk eSSy R
Bz WA Z Wy
(34 m) B (35 m) K&
R ¥ % F 2 P B8 Ui A 2
Bm,/ (W A4) ¥,/ (sb)
[ 951 Decrease/ TR T, Decrease/
(F¥%) (increase) in ('~ %) (increase) in
Increase/ loss after tax Increase/ loss after tax
(decrease) and increase/ (decrease) and increase/
in foreign (decrease) in in foreign (decrease) in
exchange rates retained profits  exchange rates retained profits
% $°000 % $'000
UL gk Pound Sterling 5 7 5 7
(5) () (%) (7)
e Euros 5 (27) 5 (275)
(5) 27 5) 275
NN Renminbi Yuan 5 930 5 456
5) (930) ©) (456)
H &l Japanese Yen 5 (25) 5 41
(5) 25 ®) (41)

bR P A U E o A AR R
5 B A E R R AR 0SB OR H L
il Hl Dh e B Wt (R 2 AR >
E % A S R 2 HE R 5
7T TT) 2 AR T BRBLAR s 1R A
i 2 RS OF 52 % -

BB AE 23 B AR R A1 T A 2
5B O E B R A 4R T
R A A A i W OR B A 4R
) T BER b R B 2 xR TR e
WG 53 B A 45 4% 7 s DA S €8S
BRI E AL B
Rl ELEZEH &
AR T A ] SR AEAT o

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on
each of the Group entities’ loss after tax and equity measured
in the respective functional currencies, translated into HKD
at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period
for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis excludes differences that would result
from the translation of the financial statements of operations
outside Hong Kong into the Group’s presentation currency.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2021.
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25 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(e) Pricerisk
The Group is exposed to price changes arising from the trading
securities (see note 14).

Decisions to buy or sell trading securities are based on daily
monitoring of the performance of the securities compared to the
expectations, as well as the Group’s liquidity needs.

At 31 March 2022, it is estimated that an increase or decrease
of 5% (2021: 5%) in the market value of the Group’s trading
securities, with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group’s loss after tax and increased/
decreased the Group’s retained profits by $856,000 (2021:
$824,000). The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2021.

(f) Fair value measurement

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of the Group’s financial instruments are
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis. The fair value of the trading securities falls within Level
2 of the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
18, Fair value measurement, based on the inputs used in
the valuation technique (see note 11(b)(i)). The fair value of
the trading securities is based on prices quoted by financial
institutions.

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of
the reporting period in which they occur.

(i) Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than fair
value

All other financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised
cost are carried at amounts not materially different from their
fair values as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

26 Commitment

The Group was committed at 31 March 2022 to entered into a new
lease of 9 years that is not yet commenced, the lease payments under
which amounted to $937,000 per annum (2021: nil).
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27T HKBWBALRS

B 1E A A5 6 S5 3R At 3 05 BT 4R 2
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(a) FHEFHAH ML
B A RS B A ) 2
o L B 4 8 I 7

(b) HRITHRKARAF > HHEEAFR (&
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K2 BOR (R 2 R A7 T #E H Ty [R] I 2
TRV ARG ] S A4 ) 2 PERE SRR -

27 Material related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the
following material related party transactions.

(a) Transactions with key management personnel

All members of key management personnel are the directors of
the Company, and their emoluments are disclosed in note 8.

(b) Transactions with and amounts paid to Yangtzekiang Garment
Limited and its subsidiaries (“Yangtzekiang Garment Group”)
(certain directors of the Company are collectively the controlling
shareholders of both the Yangtzekiang Garment Group and the

Group):
2022 2021
$°000 $000
[ N Purchases of garment products 4,491 3,913
O AT B A 67 & Rental expenses paid and payable in
respect of properties 4,800 4,807
EL AT B A 45 B Management fees paid and payable 780 804
B AT B M ASH oK I A8 P Building management fees paid and payable 144 144
AH B AE BE HE 4 AH BH AR BE W A B S
e LR & Related interest expense
Amount owed by the for the year ended
Group as at 31 March 31 March
2022 2021 2022 2021
B B 2 Financing arrangement $’000 $'000 $’000 $’000
AL £ 4 Lease liabilities 4,891 9,667 168 281
B 5 Note:

HTHEEREFEZHEANLSMARITHK
S ] S AR AR 2 HERE R (B 2B T RLAD) -
P DL b 328 5 1 A 4R 18 2 15 A B 3 by (0
FBH BB RS 14AEE) o b B S 14A
TR 1 4 1 S TE RO S g i TR s 5

— -

() ME - 4HE=H=+—HEHBH

As certain directors and their associates are collectively the controlling shareholders
(as defined in the Listing Rules) of Yangtzekiang Garment Group and the Group, the
above transactions constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules are provided in the section “Connected transactions” in the Directors’
Report.

(¢) Outstanding balances due to related companies as at 31 March

ARG ERWN 2022:
2022 2021
$000 $000
JRE A = VT S A 4 T RO Amounts due to Yangtzekiang
Garment Group 117 184

SRR N T 2 RS BRI AT - e B
Je i 788 0 B I A o
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The outstanding balances with related companies are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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28 Company-level statement of financial position

B E 2022 2021
Note $°000 $'000
Ik i B ¥ Non-current assets
LESN N &) Property, plant and equipment 5,340 9,553
WEF g 2~ ) HE i Interests in subsidiaries 62,775 62.780
IR S Py 15 B G Deferred tax assets - 4
68,115 72,337
i By Current assets
At 78 iR Other receivables 785 1165
JE s Y Ja 2 ] I Amounts due from subsidiaries 392,242 357,931
B kBl eSEY Cash and cash equivalents 79,480 84,066
472,507 443,362
i Bh £1 4% Current liabilities
HC Al JE A K Other payables 7,725 7461
JBE S Bff Jag 2 =) 3k 0E Amounts due to subsidiaries 62,638 50,045
& f Lease liabilities 4,891 4,776
7 3 e AoF Bl IH Current tax payable 104 102
75,358 63,284
) ¥ Net current assets 397,149 380,078
28 3 WU B £ £ Total assets less current liabilities 465,264 452,415
IR By £1 4% Non-current liability
A Lease liabilities - 4,891
R 4E B IH A Deferred tax liabilities 60 _
60 4,891
¥ 7 VA NET ASSETS 465,204 447 524
I AR K gtk CAPITAL AND RESERVE 24(a)
Efi N Share capital 383,909 383,909
ff 4 Reserve 81,295 63,615
B 222 B4 TOTAL EQUITY 465,204 447,524
FHEREN FE - ENH T ILHEE Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29

S FAYID

Btk %

JH R

e
4

June 2022.

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Chan Suk Ling, Shirley
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29

30

L B dee 2% P B A )

B EZ_HE=ZHA=ZF—H EHERRE
AR B H AR KR EERA TR
Chan Family Investment Corporation
Limited » L 774 B & BF 5 58 M B2 - 5% A W
A B2 At AT AR O AR Y RS R

COEM R R E e
Y S NN Y Y
P~ R R R
Hm

éﬁ%ﬁﬁ!ﬁ%iﬁ’z%ﬂ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁa%%@%ﬁﬂ?
o OO 2 HAE R KOR B E B
PN RH R E —F - FE =N
=t —HIEEAR G RRAAREE Y

B R R AR o A B A RT RO e A A
THIEALE AR ZHA -

29 Immediate and ultimate controlling party

At 31 March 2022, the directors consider the immediate and ultimate
controlling party of the Group to be Chan Family Investment Corporation
Limited, which is incorporated in the Cayman Islands. This entity does
not provide financial statements available for public use.

30 Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2022

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments and a new standard which are not
yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2022 and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
R F A H W82 % accounting periods
FH e 9 4 300 I A 3 beginning on or after
T B R HE RSB 3 2 B R & Z4H—J—H Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference 1 January 2022
W& ME S 45 5] to the conceptual framework
TG FHEL 6 wE AL “F 4 —H—H Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, 1 January 2022
R A A T PR plant and equipment: Proceeds
before intended use
FHEGFHEREITI 2B - —F 4 —HA—H Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous 1 January 2022
JE5 5 5 A1 —JE 1T B 4 2 AR Contracts — cost of fulfiling a
contract
A (% E7f 3‘%?& AN ZF— A& —F 4 —HA—H Annua improvements to HKFRSs 1 January 2022
—F ﬂﬁﬁ Zﬁf“i’ﬁz 2018-2020 cycle
FWGFHEREA 52 BT “F = —H—H Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification 1 January 2023
78 A 15 75 0 B 5 o ) of liabilities as current or non-current
W E R ER S RE T A R “E =4~ —H Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS 1 January 2023
A s S 4 A E R R Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of
SEOUS - & A B I A accounting policies
Bk g R E R 8 YR ERT A& —E =4 ——H Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of 1 January 2023
&l b A E 76 accounting estimates
s o aTHE 2R T A X T Z4E—H—H  Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred 1 January 2023

FI B — 38 5 8 AR 1Y B R AR
A I A 2 ol I

A AR B BLE BF A6 e SE B R~ B HE R K
T TR 0 A0 R A I T EE R 2 R B fEFaEx
ZIK%EII*%’Q‘IE%M% WA HE I T e

B A T R R R R

tax related to assets and liabilities
arising from a single transaction

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely
to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Principal Subsidiaries
W =& T 24 = H =+ — H At 31 March 2022

TREFNHBEAERGES BEERAMRA
BB B 2 R R o BR 55 A B Ab
JIt 35 A T A3 S 3 2 0 A

ia LB % T K 0 37 1 I 2 F) G 58 2 B Y AT A
1(d) ) - 3lf © 78 A S I B 5 i 3 A i B o

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The class
of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

All of these are controlled subsidiaries as defined under note 1(d) and
have been consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

kS Y ET0 S L 1 E]
J L K R e BB AR A%
Place of incorporation/ Particulars  Percentage of
TR establishment and of issued and ownership HEEH
Name of company business paid up capital interest  Principal activities
R EA AT it 2 shares 100 B RO R At
YGM Marketing Limited Hong Kong Investment holding, and garment
wholesaling and retailing
YGM Asset Management Limited i 2 shares 100 WERERWERE
Hong Kong Property investment and property
leasing
YGM i 35 4 Ji& (B ) A PR L3 100,000 shares 100 MAKEE
YGM Marketing (Macau) Limited Macau Garment retailing
RIS YA R i PNEE Us$1,000,000 100 BB MRS REE
YGM Trading Company Limited ## Mainland China Investment holding, and garment
wholesaling and retailing
L v AR R e SE PN RMB500,000 100 AR EE R FE
Shanghai Ji Yang Trading Company Mainland China Garment wholesaling and retailing
Limited ##
Michel René Enterprises Limited ** PR LTS 50,000 shares 68 HACHLE KT
British Virgin Islands Garment wholesaling and retailing
Luk Hop Garments Limited & 2 shares 100 WE#HE
Hong Kong *10 shares Property investment
FOT A R A EaEs 60,600,000 shares 99 WE#KE
Far East Gate Limited Hong Kong Property investment
FEBLERBARAA 7 2 shares 100 HEFEK
Hong Kong Security Systems Limited Hong Kong Investment holding
s 2 R EDRIA R R & 100 shares 100 FAEER - — B KOHELEE
Hong Kong Security Printing Limited Hong Kong BV IR 7 i B A% ¥ Mk
Provision of security printing, general
business printing and trading of
printing products and investment
holding
1 2R A PR MR PR ) ¥ 100,000 shares 9% HEHER
NF Systems Holding Limited Hong Kong Investment holding
Al R A A PR A A R 1 share 95 ABRETHHMERTEZE
NF Systems Limited Hong Kong Development of authentication and
electronic forgery detection solutions
Société Guy Laroche % EUR2,925,061 100 HEA D e fE R AR
France Trademark ownership and licensing
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FTEWE XA
Principal Subsidiaries

B FE D A = H = A — H At 31 March 2022

ik S Y ET0 S R 1 F]
J L B 4R e BB A E R EE S
Place of incorporation/ Particulars  Percentage of
A AR establishment and of issued and ownership ~ FEEH
Name of company business paid up capital interest  Principal activities
YGM Studio Limited s 21,061,000 shares 100 HEEMR
Hong Kong 46,800,000 shares Investment holding
YGM Consortium Limited 7 2 shares 100 HEHEMK
Hong Kong Investment holding
RILEEHR AW R 2 shares 100 BEA KEF AL E A AR
YGM Retail Limited Hong Kong Trademark ownership and licensing
JIr B AT A B 4 A R M R M AR A - (B DLTR & TEBR A1
* Ty M 5 SO0 S IR A o
= Ty A R e I -
=*  Michel René Enterprises Limited i & # 48 # -
All the issued share capital represents ordinary shares or registered capital except where noted by:
* Represent non-voting deferred shares.
* Represent non-voting preference shares.
e Michel René Enterprises Limited operates in Taiwan.
# EEN AL R 2% HIEME A M LA S0k I e
" & AP T R D A AR i <ot
# The English translation of the companies name are for reference only. The official name of the companies are in Chinese.

b These are wholly foreign owned enterprises registered in Mainland China.
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